
 
 
City of Lake Alfred  Phone:  (863) 291‐5270 
120 E. Pomelo Street  Fax: (863) 291‐5317 
Lake Alfred, FL  33850    www.mylakealfred.com 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
CITY COMMISSION MEETING 

WEDNESDAY SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 
7:30 P.M. 

CITY HALL 

 
CALL TO ORDER: MAYOR CHARLES LAKE 
 
INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  REVEREND THACKER 

ROLL CALL: CITY CLERK AMEÉ BAILEY 
 
CITY MANAGER & CITY ATTORNEY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
RECOGNITION OF CITIZENS: ITEMS NOT ON AGENDA 
 

PROCLAMATION – CANCER AWARENESS MONTH 
GIRL SCOUTS OF WEST CENTRAL FLORIDA PRESENTATION 

WATER COOPERATIVE FORMATION COMMITTEE - APPOINTEE 
 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
1.) CITY COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES FOR AUGUST 17, 2015. 
2.) CITY COMMISSION ANNOUNCEMENTS 

 
RECESS CITY COMMISSION AND CONVENE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT BOARD 
 

COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT BOARD (CRA) AGENDA 
 

1.) CRA MEETING MINUTES FOR AUGUST 4, 2014 
2.) CRA RESOLUTION 01-15: CRA ANNUAL BUDGET 

 
ADJOURN CRA BOARD AND RECONVENE CITY COMMISSION 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.) PUBLIC HEARING: ORDINANCE 1355-15: ANNUAL BUDGET ADOPTION  
2.) ORDINANCE 1356-15:  CHAPTER 42 - RECYCLE COLLECTION SERVICES 
3.) RESOLUTION 07-15: PROPERTY EXCHANGE  
4.) RESOLUTION 08-15: UPDATED CITY MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

 
RECOGNITION OF CITIZENS (PLEASE LIMIT YOUR COMMENTS TO 5 MINUTES.)   
 



 
 
City of Lake Alfred  Phone:  (863) 291‐5270 
120 E. Pomelo Street  Fax: (863) 291‐5317 
Lake Alfred, FL  33850    www.mylakealfred.com 
 
 
 
COMMISSIONER QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS: 
 
COMMISSIONER DUNCAN 
COMMISSIONER DEARMIN 
COMMISSIONER MAULTSBY 
MAYOR LAKE 
VICE MAYOR DALEY 
 
ADJOURN 



 
 

 

Proclamation 
To recognize September 2015 as Cancer Awareness and Prevention Month. 

 
WHEREAS, each September American call attention to a disease that affects men, women and 
children across our City, state and country.  We renew our commitment to curing cancer and offer 
our support to the people fighting this disease, and 
 
WHEREAS, the American Cancer Society is the nationwide community based voluntary health 
organization dedicated to eliminating cancer as a major health problem by preventing cancer, 
saving lives and diminishing suffering from cancer through research, education, advocacy and 
service; and 
 
WHEREAS, the American Cancer Society estimates that there are more than 1.15 million cancer 
survivors in Florida and that more than 115,000 Floridians will be diagnosed with cancer this year; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, cancer often goes undetected until advanced stages, therefor increasing awareness 
of risk factors and screening is critical to fighting this disease.  Screening tests can often find 
cancer early, when treatments are more likely to be successful; and 
 
WHEREAS, the American Cancer Society is fighting cancer by supporting patients and survivors, 
funding new research, and spreading the word about recommended screenings and ways to lower 
risk; and 
 
WHEREAS, this month is dedicated to cancer awareness and prevention, it is also to honor those 
lost to cancer, show our support for those who bravely carry on the fight, and take action to lessen 
the tragic toll cancer takes on families across our county. 
 
THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of Lake Alfred formally recognize September 2015 
as 

"Cancer Awareness and Prevention Month" 
 

in the City of Lake Alfred and urges all citizens to rededicate themselves to the urgent work of 
increasing awareness, prevention and care for those with cancer.   
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunder set my hand this 9th day of September, 2015. 
 
 
                         

Charles O. Lake, Mayor 
      City of Lake Alfred, Florida 



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
 

1.) CITY COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES FOR AUGUST 17, 2015 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 Draft Minutes 
 

ANALYSIS:  Please review the minutes at your earliest convenience and if there are any 
questions, comments or concerns please contact the City Clerk, Ameé Bailey at (863) 291-
5747. 
 

 
 

2.) CITY COMMISSION ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
 
ANALYSIS:  Each of the meetings scheduled below may constitute a public meeting at which 
two or more City Commissioners or Planning Board Members may attend and discuss issues 
that may come before the City Commissioners.    
 

 The Ridge League of Cities Membership Meeting will be held on Thursday September 10 
at 6:30 pm at the Winter Haven Chain of Lakes Complex. (210 Cypress Gardens Blvd. 
SW, Winter Haven- North Entrance) 
 

 Polk Regional Water Cooperative Formation Team will meet on Friday, September 18, 
2015 from 9 am to 1 pm at the Lake Myrtle Sports Complex (2710 Lake Myrtle Rod, 
Auburndale) 

 
 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval of the consent agenda 
 
 



DRAFT 
Page 1 of 11 

 

DRAFT MINUTES 
CITY OF LAKE ALFRED 

CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
MONDAY, AUGUST 17, 2015 

7:30 P.M. 
CITY HALL 

 
Call to Order: Mayor Charles Lake 
 
Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance: Joyce Schmidt 
 
Roll Call: Those in attendance were Mayor Charles Lake, Vice Mayor Nancy Daley, 
Commissioner John Duncan, Commissioner Jack Dearmin, Commissioner Albertus Maultsby, 
City Manager Ryan Leavengood, Assistant City Attorney Seth Claytor, and City Clerk Ameé 
Bailey.   
 
Staff attendance: Public Works Director John Deaton, Community Development Director Valerie 
Ferrell, Fire Chief Chris Costine, Police Chief Art Bodenheimer, and Parks and Recreation 
Superintendent Richard Weed. 
 

CITY MANAGER ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated that the Lake Alfred Library is hosting a Back to School 
Carnival on Thursday, August 20th from 6 pm till 8 pm.  The event will be held on the Lake 
Alfred tennis courts across the street from the library.  Please join staff for carnival games, face 
painting & lots of fun!  Students return to public schools on Monday, August 24, 2015.    
 
The Bloodmobilewill be at your Lake Alfred Library on Tuesday, September 1st from 9 am till 2 
pm. and the Mobile Career Source will visit on Tuesday, September 18th from 9 am till 3 pm. 
 
Mackay Gardens and Lakeside Preserve will host a free community gardening workshop on 
September 3rd at 10 am and a guided nature walk on September 12th at 8 am.  Contact the 
Parks and Recreation Department for more details or to sign-up for one of these events.   
 
City Offices will be closed on Monday, September 7th in observance of Labor Day.   
 
The City Commission dates in September have been changed to the 2nd and 4th Wednesday of 
the month (September 9th and 23rd) to meet the Florida Statue requirement for the annual 
budget hearings.  The final millage rate and 2015/2016 budget adoption is scheduled for the 
City Commission Meeting on Wednesday, September 23rd at 7:30 pm. 
 
Police Chief Art Bodenheimer presented portable speed detection sign and portable light 
tower.  The City received 10 speed detection signs from FDOT and they typically cost $5,000 
each.  They have solar panels and will display speeds limits, text and the speed the vehicle is 
traveling.  They are a great deterrent.  The second item is a portable light tower.  The tower was 
received through a “Click it or Ticket” campaign at night.  Officer Lopez was entered into a 
statewide drawing and was selected to receive the $4,000 light tower.  The tower could also be 



DRAFT 
Page 2 of 11 

 

used by Public Works in an emergency.  The tower will operate on low power for 20 hours, 
medium power for 8 hours, and high power for 3 hours before needing charging.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked if the speed detection sign can be used in a school zone with 15 mph 
and then changed to the normal speed limit.   
 
Police Chief Art Bodenheimer stated that the signs will be permanently placed around the City 
and that the school zones were necessities. 

 
 

CITY ATTORNEY ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 
No announcements.  
 
 

RECOGNITION OF CITIZENS 
 
There were no citizen statements. 
 
PROCLAMATION:  CIVILITY MONTH 
 
Mayor Lake read the proclamation for the August as Civility Month.  The proclamation urged all 
citizens to exercise civility toward each other. 
 
EMPLOYEE SERVICE RECOGNITION: JUAN LOPEZ – 5 YEARS 
 
Mayor Lake asked Officer Lopez to join him at the podium.  Mayor Lake stated that Officer 
Lopez began his career with the Lake Alfred Police Department on August 30, 2010 and worked 
street patrol.  In late 2013, Officer Lopez was picked by members from three (3) other outside 
agencies and Lake Alfred Police Department staff to take over the canine program.  Since 
taking over the canine program Officer Lopez has been to two state competitions where he and 
his canine partner have received many awards and represented Region 1 in the National field 
trials in 2014. 
 
Officer Lopez has a great rapport with staff members and the public he comes into contact with. 
He has a great working relationship with department members and can be counted on by staff 
to work whenever needed.  Officer Lopez is a great asset to the City of Lake Alfred, the Lake 
Alfred Police Department and both citizens and visitors of the City of Lake Alfred. 
 
In recognition of his five year anniversary, the City of Lake Alfred provides him with this 
certificate of appreciation for service and a five year longevity pin.  Congratulations and we look 
forward to celebrating your 10th Anniversary with the City. 
 
 

CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Dearmin moved to approve the consent agenda; seconded by Commissioner 
Duncan and the motion was approved by unanimous voice call vote. 
 



DRAFT 
Page 3 of 11 

 

MAYOR LAKE    AYE 
VICE MAYOR DALEY   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DEARMIN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DUNCAN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER MAULTSBY  AYE 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.) RESOLUTION 06-15: WAYFINDING SIGNAGE EVALUATION AND CRITERIA 
 
Assistant City Attorney Seth Claytor read the resolution title.   
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the proposed Downtown Wayfinding Signage Program is the 
cumulative effort of city staff, the business community, City Commission, and city consultants 
working together to address the challenges and opportunities in the City’s downtown district. 
The plan was presented and approved by the City Commission on October 20, 2014 in an 
attempt to improve signage within downtown and assist businesses while aiding in the City’s 
branding effort consistent with the Downtown Master Plan. 
 
The primary components of the plan include gateway signage, directional signage on 17/92 for 
public assets, and side street signage to assist the downtown businesses. City staff is proposing 
to administer and maintain the program. The Wayfinding Sign Evaluation and Criteria 
establishes the process for permitting, qualifying, and funding sign changes. 
 
A draft of the side street signs prepared by Gulf State Signs was displayed to show the colors 
and fonts.  The locations were previously approved.  The order has been submitted and is 
awaiting the arrival of materials.  The signs should be installed beginning in the fall and 
completed by the end of the year.  The gateway signs may be later due to new permitting 
procedures.  
 
Mayor Lake asked about the different sides of the sign, size of the sign, number of signs, and 
timing for installation. 
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked how high the signs will be from the ground to the bottom of the sign. 
 
Community Development Director Valerie Ferrell presented the side street signs showing 
the colors, fonts and text size.  She stated that the signs will be approximately 8 feet above the 
ground and made of the same material a regular street signs.  Each sign will be mounted on a 
single pole.  The signs will be very durable.  The final lettering will have white reflective lettering.   
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the signs may be extended 2-3 inches at the bottom to allow 
for additional listing.  For busier intersections there may be two signs side by side for up to 12 
listings.   
 
Commissioner Dearmin moved to approve of Resolution 06-15; seconded by Commissioner 
Maultsby.   The motion was approved by unanimous voice call vote.   
 



DRAFT 
Page 4 of 11 

 

Judy Schelfo 640 East Lake View Rd, asked how a business will request to be listed and the 
cost to the business. 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the City will propose and circulate the proposed signs to the 
Commission and businesses.  The signs are an asset to the City and the City will own and 
maintain the signs.  Therefore the cost will be paid by the City.  The resolution establishes the 
priority for listing on the signs and the City will try to accommodate as many businesses as 
possible.  The City will periodically update the signs as business come in or change.  The 
lettering is adhesive and can be removed and new businesses added.   
 
MAYOR LAKE    AYE 
VICE MAYOR DALEY   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DEARMIN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DUNCAN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER MAULTSBY  AYE 
 
 
2.)  EDWARD BYRNE MEMORIAL JUSTICE ASSISTANCE GRANT 2015/2016 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated Florida Administrative Code requires that the units of 
government in each county reach consensus concerning the expenditure of these funds, 
including the projects to be implemented.  To verify this consensus, the Florida Department of 
Law Enforcement requires each applicant to obtain a letter of support from at least 51% of the 
local units of government, representing at least 51% of the county population. The following 
amount have been allocated to fund projects in Lake Alfred. 
 

 2013/2014 Allocation $ 8,407 
 2014/2015 Allocation $10,193 
 2015/2016 Allocation $ 9,152 

 
Staff recommendation is to approve the fund distribution for Polk County and send a letter of 
acceptance to the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. 
 
Police Chief Art Bodenheimer stated the City’s allotment was cut 10% from last year.  The 
funds will be used for a three wheel stand up cart (Segway) with safety lights for use with 
Student Resource Officer, parades, etc.  Some other items have annual cost, this item will not 
have a reoccurring cost. 
 
Vice Mayor Daley moved to approve the fund distribution for Polk County Edward Byrne 
Memorial Justice Assistance Grant 2015/2016 and send a letter of acceptance to the Florida 
Department of Law Enforcement; seconded by Commissioner Duncan. The motion was 
approved by unanimous voice call vote.  There were no public comments. 
 
MAYOR LAKE    AYE 
VICE MAYOR DALEY   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DEARMIN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DUNCAN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER MAULTSBY  AYE 
 



DRAFT 
Page 5 of 11 

 

3.) BID PROPOSAL: RESIDENTIAL RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the City is currently provided curbside residential recycling 
by Republic Services in a 3-year contract set to expire at the end of September 2015. Following 
the receipt of the proposed monthly renewal rate of $5.00 per residence (over double the 
current rate of $2.38) the City began exploring alternative options including providing the service 
in-house and going out to bid for alternative providers.  
 
Following feedback received from the City Commission at the June 15th meeting a request for 
proposal (RFP) was prepared to solicit bids from qualified companies to provide once a week 
residential curbside recycling service with a 65 gallon container. Based upon existing service, 
curbside recycling would service approximately 1,750 residential units and generate 250 tons of 
recyclable tonnage per year. The advertised contract period was set as a three year fixed rate 
with the option of three, one-year renewals.  The RFP was advertised July 8th through July 14th 
and a mandatory pre-proposal meeting was held on July 23, 2015 at City Hall and attended by 
five companies. Sealed proposals were received and opened on August 10, 2015. The City 
received the following bids (pricing is per month per unit): 
 

 Advanced Disposal Services (Ponte Verde, FL):   No Bid 
 Progressive Waste Solutions (Altamonte Springs, FL):  $3.16 
 Republic Services:       $5.48  
 Trash Taxi (Auburndale, FL): 

o With rewards program:     $2.93  
o Without rewards program:     $2.53 

 Waste Not:        $6.50 
 
After reviewing the bids the most viable options would be either Trash Taxi at the $2.53 or the 
previously presented in-house option. At the current rate of $2.38 city staff estimates the in-
house option would cost $40,000 annually and generate a net $10,000 annual surplus which is 
consistent with our commercial sanitation surcharge (~20%); each additional 0.05 cents in rate 
generates an additional $1,000 in revenue. The in-house option would cut into our remaining 
route capacity before requiring another sanitation truck being added to the fleet and an initial 
investment of $90,000 to purchase the 65-gallon containers. These concerns are particularly 
offset by: 
 

 Following the route audit we have found additional efficiencies and capacity in our 
current routes that would allow for recycling within our current operations.  This cut back 
the route time by approximately an hour each day. 

 The Republic Bid contained a provision to utilize their MURF single stream recycling 
facility for drop off that would provide us with a dividend based upon the value of our 
recyclable materials; or alternatively the City could propose transfer of ownership of the 
current containers to the City (could be relabeled with City decal).  They are estimated to 
be depreciated by approximately 50%.   

 If the City did have to make purchase of the containers; the majority of the funding is 
available in restricted revenue for the purchase of the containers. Reserve funds could 
be used for this purchase since they are designated for cans or a lighting loader, which 
was recently purchased. The account has $66,000 today.  Therefor the purchase would 
not impact the General Fund. 



DRAFT 
Page 6 of 11 

 

 Due to the tighter margins with the lower rate staff would propose an inflation adjustment 
to be included with the in-house option (either tied to CPI or a flat amount every year or 
every other year) that would apply to the sanitation services. 

 The restricted revenue source for sanitation vehicle replacement will have enough to 
purchase a vehicle in 2-3 years without any impact to the general fund or other 
sanitation operations. Additionally, staff is pursuing opportunities with other larger 
municipalities in the region for the purchase of a high quality used vehicle. 

 
Staff recommendation on this item is the pleasure of the Commission.  It seems that the best 
two options are Trash Taxi at $2.53 or the in-house option.  The in-house option may be lower 
but will also have additional management requirements to consider.   
 
Commissioner Maultsby asked if the City would own the Trash Taxi containers after three 
years.  He also asked if the company had newer equipment and could meet the City’s needs.  
He stated that if the City went with the low bid it would cost each household an additional 21 
cents a month.  He stated this is not a significant increase and would be less than the start-up 
cost for the City.  He also commented on the additional wear and tear on a City trucks if using 
the in-house option.  It could lead to the need to purchase a truck sooner than scheduled. 
 
Curtis Agius from Trash Taxi stated that the RFP was not set-up for the purchase of the 
containers, but it could be negotiated.  Generally they depreciate the containers over 5 years 
and if the contract was awarded to Trash Taxi for years 4 and 5 the City could own the 
containers after 5 years.  This is how the Dundee contract is set-up.  He also stated the 
company had two 2014 automatic side loaders that are used in Dundee two days a week.  
These trucks could be used in Lake Alfred.   
 
City Manager Leavengood reviewed the cost for the City to provide the recycle service at the 
current rate. The estimate included additional cost of $20,000 for diesel, $10,000 for repair and 
maintenance of vehicles, $5,000 for additional staff time, and $5,000 for a tipping fee for a total 
of $40,000.  If the City continued to collect the $2.38 fee currently charged to the residents, 
would generate approximately $50,000 in revenue.  There could be a $10,000 surplus at the 
current rate.  For each additional 5 cents an additional $1,000 would be generated.  The start-up 
cost is minimal since the City does not need to purchase an additional tuck or hire any 
additional staff.  The City needs to be concerned with increase in operations over time.  The City 
is already set-up with restricted revenue sources to take on the additional responsibility of the 
Commission so desires.  The Trash Taxi bid also has advantages since it tis turn-key and 
includes no additional work for the City.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked how long it would take to recoup the cost of buying the cans and how 
long the City could use them.   
 
Mayor Lake asked about replacement cans and the color. He also asked Trash Taxi about the 
rewards program including the process and cost. 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated that the cans can be used past their depreciation.  As with 
the City cans, they are replaced as needed.  The restricted moneys can only be used for 
containers and lighting loaders so the funds are available.  The restricted funds will also recoup 
over time and as new customers are added.  If comparing to the profits it would take 4-5 years.  
Public Works stores containers on-site and orders 100 containers in bulk as needed.  If the City 



DRAFT 
Page 7 of 11 

 

bought Republics cans then the City would by decals for the existing cans and new blue cans 
would be purchased as replacements when needed.   
 
Curtis Agius from Trash Taxi stated that their rewards program has been successful.  In 
Dundee and some residents have saved $300-400.  It is not a point system.  Residents log into 
the website and to receive membership benefits such as discounts.  The discount program is an 
annual subscription and could be cancelled after the first year.  Trash Taxi provides Dundee 
with reports on consumer usage.   
 
City Manager Leavengood stated that it is similar to the coupon system.  The cost for the 
coupon is already built into the price of the product and the ones who do not use the coupons 
subsidize the people who do use the coupons.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley stated that most residents have expressed an interest in the City providing 
service. This also leads to additional control and the in-house option might be the most efficient. 
 
Mayor Lake stated the City did provide the service previously with the yellow containers.    
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the City also has the Sanitation reserve that is allocated for 
the purchase of trucks.  The fund currently has $152,000.  In two years the fund will have 
enough to purchase an additional truck.  The in-house option allows the citizens to benefit from 
the cost saving built into the current program that they have already funded.  Another option is 
to purchase a used truck from a larger municipality if another truck was needed sooner than 
planned.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked if the service could be re-bid if the in-house option did not work down 
the road. 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated that was an option or building a contract with a vendor that 
had an exit clause.  Although he would like to provide as much consistency as possible rather 
than constantly changing vendors.   
 
Commissioner Dearmin stated he agreed that the citizens prefer the City provide services.   
 
Larry Parsons 335 Interlachen St, asked about the rewards program and the expected life 
capacity of the containers.   
 
Curtis Agius from Trash Taxi stated the rewards program is a membership program and 
members get discounts from local business and large chain businesses. In Dundee they provide 
discounts for the restaurants in town including the local diners.  He also stated the life 
expectance and warranty for the containers is generally 10 years. It also depends on the use 
and handling.  Some last as long as 20 years.  If a container is stolen the resident will receive a 
new container.   
 
Lowell Schmidt 365 East Sanford St., asked how many days a week the truck runs to pick up 
sanitation.  He asked if the same amount of time would be needed to pick up recycling and if 
additional drivers would be needed.  He asked about Lake Alfred Estates and if the city could 
accommodate additional growth and add the recycle service.  He stated that the public did not 
want to outsource the sanitation.  He compared this to Fire Service. 
 



DRAFT 
Page 8 of 11 

 

Public Works Director John Deaton stated it takes three days to pick up residential sanitation 
with one driver (Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday).  They pick-up dumpsters half a day on 
Monday.  The City has three back-up driver who can drive the trucks.  The rear loading tipper 
sits four days a week because it is only used on Monday for the dumpsters.  This truck could be 
used another day during the week.   
 
City Manager Leavengood stated there is capacity left in each day although they are picking-
up three days a week.  The schedule might have to be modified or the reserve truck may be 
used.  Republic runs two trucks all day for recycling.  The City will use one truck over two days 
and we currently have the staff to drive those trucks.  If the City experiences additional growth 
equipment will be needed at that time, but the system would be ready for the growth since there 
would be additional income from those new customers.  He stated that this is just one option, 
and the City is capable of providing the service. He stated that the County was making changes 
to the fire protection service and agreements regardless of what Lake Alfred wanted.  The City 
still has the option of expanding and providing additional fire services if the current agreement 
does not work out.   
 
Commissioner Maultsby asked what the residential rate would be for the in-house option. 
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked about the setting the cost for the in-house option and timing.   
 
City Manager Leavengood stated that the city could maintain the existing rate of $2.38 for 
some time, however the City should consider removing the five cent subsidy and an inflator 
clause.  He stated that the rate is set by ordinance and an agreement would be needed with 
Republic for them to accept the recycling materials, establish a rebate and tipping fees, and to 
purchase the containers.  Educating the public about a day change would take the most amount 
of time.  The ordinance changes can be read at the first and second meetings in September.  
 
Public Works Director John Deaton stated that Public Works would be able to make a 
seamless transition to collect the recycling as long as the City Manager is able to complete the 
negotiations with Republic.  He also stated that the City did not previously pick up recycling.  It 
was Republic that used the yellow can and then they switched to the 65 gallon cans.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley moved to initiate an in-house recycle program and instruct the City Manager 
to prepare the ordinance and documents necessary; seconded by Commissioner Dearmin. 
The motion was approved by unanimous voice call vote.   
 
MAYOR LAKE    AYE 
VICE MAYOR DALEY   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DEARMIN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DUNCAN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER MAULTSBY  NAE 
 
 
4) BID PROPOSAL: BUCHANAN BUILDING DEMOLITION 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated that following the property swap with the University of 
Florida and the acquisition of the Buchanan Building staff proceeded with obtaining bids for 
demolition in order to prepare of the site for marketing and eventual redevelopment consistent 
with the Downtown Master Plan and the City’s recently created Community Redevelopment 



DRAFT 
Page 9 of 11 

 

Agency. The City received the following bids for the demolition of the building and the clearing 
of the property:  
 

 ASAP Solutions Inc $  60,530.00 
 OSH Environmental $  58,500.00  
 Tucker Paving Inc. $283,528.59 

 
City staff has reached out to the Central Florida Development Council (CFDC) staff for 
assistance and feedback in generating a marketing package for the property. Depending upon 
the desired redevelopment outcome, brokers or other representatives recommended by the 
CFDC may have the opportunity to present these packets at commercial retailer conferences to 
assist in the marketing and eventual redevelopment of the property.  He stated that Jim 
DeGenario from the Central Florida Development Council was here to answer any questions 
although he only has 9 days left at the County. 
 
Staff recommendation is to award the bid to OSH Environmental for the demolition of the 
Buchanan Building in the amount of $58,500. 
 
Commissioner Dearmin asked the size of the property 
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked in the property is more valuable with a building or vacant.  She also 
asked about asbestos and if the property was in the brownfield area.  Will the site benefit from 
the drainage program 
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the property approximately 1.5 acres.  The asbestos survey 
was completed and clear as part of the Phase II Environmental Survey.  He stated that the 
building has been on the market for a while and not sold and often existing buildings can be a 
barrier to entry.  He also stated that the downtown master plan and visions does not envision 
the property operating in the same fashion as in the past.  He confirmed that the site is within 
the brownfield area.   
 
Community Development Director Valerie Ferrell stated that she agreed with the City 
Manager that a shovel ready site is more valuable to the end user.  The end user can design the 
site to meet their needs without having to remodel, retrofit, or demo the existing building.  City 
has taken several steps to better appeal to an end user by completing the analysis and clearing 
the site.  She introduced Jim DeGenario from the Central Florida Development Council.   
 
Jim DeGenario Central Florida Development Council (CFDC) stated that the City has 
prepared a great retail information packet and acknowledged that vendors like the package.  
Retail is a tax generator, job creator, and a foundation for community growth.  The property, like 
the Family Dollar, provides a good opportunity for public/private partnerships.  Development of 
the site can aid in reducing blight and bring new investment to the community.  He 
recommended to move slowly and to not settle for any deal.  There are approximately 5,000 
residents, but within a 5-mile radius there are 59,000 people.  The central location is a business 
attractor.  The CFDC will assist with development, but the City can also use a broker.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley asked about if the FDOT drainage project would help this site. 
 
Mayor Lake asked about the timing on the drainage project and location.   



DRAFT 
Page 10 of 11 

 

City Manager Leavengood stated the property would benefit and that he is currently working 
on the letter of commitment from the Southwest Florida Water Management District (Swift Mud) 
and the FDOT to ensure that the property owners will not be required to address the existing 
drainage problem.  The City paid for the engineering and FDOT will pay for construction.  The 
project should begin July 2017. 
 
Public Works Director John Deaton stated the pipe for the project will go under the new trail 
and FDOT was surveying last week.  The pipe will go to the pond behind Freedom Insurance 
and then to the lake.  FDOT will remove the trail, install the pipe, and then reconstruct the trail.  
 
City Manager Leavengood stated  the property is also adjacent to right-of-way, which could 
developed.  Since the site is owned by the City, there is less issues with selling the property as 
with a private property that has multiple owners.  Then the money raised can be used to fund 
additional redevelopment opportunities. 
 
Larry Parsons 335 Interlachen St, asked if the City’s intent was to sell or lease the property 
and what kind of potential development the City wanted and the time table for development. He 
also asked about the County’s role in the process.   
 
City Manager Leavengood stated the final decision is up to the Commission, but staff has 
been following the master plan guidelines.  It will also depend on the options presented such as 
a sale and redevelopment.  The business would need to begin and operate within a certain time 
frame since the City does not want the property to remain vacant.  The property did not have to 
purchase the property, so there is very little cost that the City needs to recuperate.  The market 
has improved and is getting better, so the market price should be good.  He clarified the 
County’s role in assisting with marketing and providing information at conferences.  The site 
could also be split for two business that need a smaller footprint.  The Code is already in place 
to aid in development.  He stated that McDonalds has looked at the Lake Alfred and many 
options are viable.  The City needs to focus on promoting Lake Alfred and one good opportunity 
could spur additional growth.  The time frame for the CRA is 30 years, but the goal is to have 
the site developed within 5 years.  The removal of the building will reduce blight in the City and 
even if vacant will increase the value of the property and area.  The appraisal is underway.  The 
Family Dollar store on one vacant acre sold for $500,000.  The property sold two years ago, but 
would be a comparable type of property and value.  The money can then be reinvested by 
purchasing additional property, street scraping, etc.  The City may also need to reevaluate the 
Code to aid in negotiations with developer to ensure the City gets the best development 
possible.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley stated that the City has the option to approve whatever a buyer might want 
to build.  The goal would be to approve a business that would draw in more new business.  She 
stated that as US Highway 27 gets more congested, people are driving through Lake Alfred as 
an alternative.   
 
Mayor Lake stated that by demolishing the building it gives developers an opportunity to 
envision their own development. 
 
Commissioner Dearmin moved to award the bid to OSH Environmental for the demolition of 
the Buchanan Building in the amount of $58,500; seconded by Commissioner Maultsby. The 
motion was approved by unanimous voice call vote.   
 



DRAFT 
Page 11 of 11 

 

MAYOR LAKE    AYE 
VICE MAYOR DALEY   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DEARMIN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER DUNCAN   AYE 
COMMISSIONER MAULTSBY  AYE 
 
City Manager Leavengood presented Jim DeGenario with a Lake Alfred Centennial cap and 
coin to recognize his 35 years with the County and congratulate him on his pending retirement. 
 
Jim DeGenario Central Florida Development Council (CFDC) thanked the City and 
Commission. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Seth Claytor also thanked Jim DeGenario for taking the time to talk 
with him when he was a new attorney in Polk County.   
 

RECOGNITION OF CITIZENS 
 
Judy Schelfo 640 East Lake View Rd, stated that Lake Alfred is a prime central Florida 
location, with great access and is still quaint.   
 
 

COMMISSIONER QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS 
 
Commissioner Dearmin gave his condolences to the Yelvington Family and stated that he 
enjoyed FLC Conference and comradery. 
 
Commissioner Maultsby commented that he liked working with people who get the job done. 
 
Mayor Lake stated that he also enjoyed the FLC conference and the opportunities to learn, 
network, the exchange of information, and sessions. He held his first Monday Morning with the 
Mayor earlier today and had seven people attend.  There was a good exchange of information.   
 
He reminded everyone of the Chamber Lunch on Wednesday.   
 
Vice Mayor Daley thanked Republic Services for their relationship and comradery.  She 
reminded everyone of the Ridge League Dinner will be held on September 10th and will include 
the installation of new Board members.  She also asked about remaining on the RLC Board.  
She stated that Neil Combee is hosting a Legislative Round table on Thursday the 27th at 10:30 
in Polk City and he had requested the City Manager and a Commission member attend.   
 
Commissioner Duncan stated that school states next Monday and thanked Republic for a 
great job. 
 
 
With there being no further business to discuss, Mayor Lake adjourned the meeting at 9:20 pm. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
Ameé N. Bailey 
City Clerk 



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

CRA AGENDA 
 
 

1.) CRA MEETING MINUTES FOR AUGUST 4, 2014 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 Draft Minutes 
 

ANALYSIS:  Please review the minutes at your earliest convenience and if there are any 
questions, comments or concerns please contact the City Clerk, Ameé Bailey at (863) 291-
5747. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval of the August 4, 2014 Minutes 
 
 
  



1 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT BOARD MEETING 

MONDAY, AUGUST 4, 2014 
8:38 P.M. 

CITY HALL 
 
Call to order at 8:39 p.m. – Nancy Z. Daley, Chair 
 
Roll Call: Those in attendance were Chair Nancy Z. Daley, Vice Chair Charles Lake, Board 
Member John Duncan, Board Member Jack Dearmin, Board Member Albertus Maultsby, City 
Manager Ryan Leavengood, Assistant City Attorney Seth Claytor and City Clerk Linda 
Bourgeois.   
 
Staff attendance: Public Works Director John Deaton, Community Development Director Valerie 
Ferrell, Police Chief Art Bodenheimer, and Finance Director Amber Deaton. 
 
Audience attendance: Pat Steed and Eric Labbe from the Central Florida Regional Planning 
Council. 
 
1.) CRA PLAN RECOMMENDATION 
 
City Manager Leavengood said Ordinance 1335-14 established the City’s Community 
Redevelopment Agency. Per state statutes, the CRA must submit a plan to the agency’s local 
government for approval. The proposed CRA Plan addresses the challenges identified in the 
Finding of Necessity and is consistent with achieving the goals identified in the Downtown 
Master Plan. Staff recommendation is for approval, and to submit the CRA plan to the Lake 
Alfred City Commission for consideration. 
 
Eric Labbe presented the Community Redevelopment Area Plan as proposed.   

Overview 
 

Major Elements 
• Introduction to the District 
• Community Engagement 
• Required Contents 
• Redevelopment Activities 
• 1,032 Acres or 12.4% of the City 

 



2 
 

 

Plan Includes: 

• Boundary 
• Demographics 
• Land Use and Zoning 
• Taxable Values 
• Residential Blight Analysis 
• Downtown Core and Transitional Area Inventory 
• Residential Affordability Analysis 
• Transportation Analysis 

 

Community Outreach Input: 

• Lack of lighting and sidewalks 
• Areas of flooding 
• Disrepair of Buena Vista Street 
• Walking trail improvements 
• Redevelopment of Grey’s trucking site 
• General beautification – Landscaping/Signage 
• Marketing/Business attraction – Grocery store/Gas station/Office jobs 
• Redevelop Lions Park and Central Park into modern and attractive facilities 
• More special events and activities 
• Implement the Downtown Master Plan 

 

Programs: 

• Greenfield Development Incentives 
• Infill Development Incentives 
• Brownfield Development Incentives 
• Building & Property Improvement and Rehabilitation Incentives 
• Public Infrastructure Development/Redevelopment 
• Historic Preservation 
• Community Events, Festivities, Cultural Awareness, and Non-Profits 
• Beautification 
• Marketing, Promotions and Recruitment 
• Code Enforcement 
• Relocation Assistance 
• Community Policing 
• Neighborhood Reinvestment Program 
• Elderly and Disabled Assistance Program 
• Disaster Prevention and Recovery 

 
Short Term Projects: 
 

• Redevelopment plan for Gray’s Trucking Property 
• Continued work with grocery store chains 
• Develop a business beautification program 



3 
 

• Streetscaping projects 
• Crosswalk improvements 
• Wayfinding signage program 
• Pocket parks 
• Festivals and events 

 
Long Term Projects: 

• Redevelopment of Grey’s Trucking 
• Completion of a connected pedestrian system 
• A completed pedestrian corridor 

 
Pat Steed said the CRA is a permissive plan and it is based on the downtown redevelopment 
master plan. Additionally, the plan includes a variety of programs and projects that have been 
identified.  She concluded by reviewing the timeline. 
 
CRA Timeline: 
 
August 4th 

• Formation of the CRA Board of Directors 
• Initial meeting of the CRA Board of Directors 
• First reading of the Community Redevelopment Plan 

August 18th 
• Second reading (public hearing) of the Community Redevelopment Plan 

August – October 
• Polk County Review 

November 
• Polk County Planning Commission Hearing 

December 
• Polk County Board of County Commissioners Hearing 

January 1st, 2015 
• Effective Date for Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Trust Fund 

 
Board Member Duncan said if the City were to perform projects within the Community 
Redevelopment Area, can the CRA reimburse the City? 
 
City Manager Leavengood replied and said the CRA cannot carry a deficit.  He believes the 
statutory requirement on the CRA funds, states they have to be expended within three years.  
He said you can roll it over and assign it to specific projects, but you can’t really have true 
reserves like the City.  The state does not want to see you stockpile five-million dollars in a CRA 
because the purpose of it is to address blight.  He continued and said at the same time you may 
need to save a little bit to leverage the funds.  He explained the most you can do is really 
reimburse some expenses to the General Fund if you had personnel assigned to CRA duties.  
He concluded by saying that is no different than we do with utilities today, with different 
employees that are funded through different funds.   
 
Chair Daley said so we have to have some time go by while we collect some money; then have 
projects that we can use that money on. 
 
 
 



4 
 

 
City Manager Leavengood said he anticipated in the early stages of the CRA there may be a 
five or ten thousand dollar budget. There may be a specific project that we put in the Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) like the benches that were placed on East Haines.  He said as it 
grows, we can get more aggressive and look at different things.  Maybe it is a General Fund 
projects and you would use a portion of the CRA budget to help with the General Fund project if 
it is within the CRA area. He provided an example of a large streetscaping project or said we 
can do smaller projects; it depends on what we want to do.   
 
Vice Chair Lake asked so we won’t really see any money coming into this until next year, and 
wanted to know if we would be able to do anything. 
 
City Manager Leavengood responded and said the following year is when we should see 
revenue.  He replied and said the projects we will be able to do will depend on if the property 
values increase.  It is revenue dependent. 
 
Pat Steed of the Central Florida Regional Planning Council said the conservative first increment 
estimation is $3,000.00; with the second increment being closer to $9,000.00.   
 
City Manager Leavengood said the Community Redevelopment Agency will become basically 
a separate department within the City.  Just like you receive the separate sections of the budget 
as with the police department or community development; there will be a community 
redevelopment agency sheet in the budget.  It has to balance with itself. He explained the CRA 
will be then included with the regular budget and then we can assign it or tackle different capital 
projects that fall within the CRA. 
 
Board Member Duncan asked if we would do a Capital Improvement Plan for the CRA? 
 
Assistant City Attorney cautioned about discussing City Commission business during the 
Community Redevelopment Agency meeting. 
 
Board Member Daley reflected on how the process would move forward. 
 
City Manager Leavengood said at some point we will convene as the CRA Board, with your 
own project priority list, and it will very much gel up with the City’s capital budget, but again only 
those items within the CRA area.  You would then approve your own budget as the CRA Board 
to then be included within the City’s budget. 
 
Vice Chair Lake said theoretically based on this project income, we should not be planning any 
major projects.   
 
City Manager Leavengood replied and said the first ten years of the CRA are most likely going 
to be smaller projects or using the funds to subsidize larger projects, with the City and the CRA 
basically teaming up. 
 
A discussion ensued about projects such as landscaping and benches to make the City look 
better. 
 
Board Member Duncan said before all of this becomes final, and we have a developer come in 
and develop a piece of property; when we draw the line in January for the property values in the 



5 
 

CRA; if that building is finished before we finish that, would it be the current appraised value of 
that developed piece of land?   Because there is one going on right now within our CRA zone. 
 
Pat Steed replied that it is really when it goes onto the tax roll.  It is not until the building is 
completed, and then it goes onto the Property Appraisers tax roll that it actually gets counted as 
the value including the building.  The timing of that becomes – if it is under construction now that 
does not automatically mean that it will or won’t be.  She does not know at what point it will be 
picked up on the tax roll.  It is not until it is completed and the certificate of occupancy is issued 
and it is officially on the tax roll.  That is usually the following year.  She concluded by saying the 
CRA and Tax Increment Financing are long term investment tools so don’t get discouraged by 
looking at the short term because the long term prospects are very good. 
 
Vice Chair Lake moved to recommend approval and submit the CRA Plan to the City of Lake 
Alfred City Commission for consideration; seconded by Board Member Maultsby; 
 
Chair Daley requested for any audience comments. 
 
Lowell Schmidt 365 East Sanford Street wanted to know how future elections would affect the 
Chair and Vice Chair appointments if one or the other did not get elected?  He went on to say 
there is the potential to lose 2/5 of your experienced board.  He continued and said the other 
two voluntary members will not have gone through this process.  He is looking to see 
experienced knowledgeable members and asked “has it been thought about as far as you five?” 
 
Chair Daley said it is really the same as the City Commission and at any point any two of us, in 
one election, could be replaced by two new people and then the following year maybe another 
one or two.  She said you would think people wanting to run for the City Commission would be 
familiar with city business and what the city needs. 
 
City Manager Leavengood said long-term it is really a policy decision and making 
appointments to all of the boards in the city and the CRA board is no different.  Staff’s 
recommendation is, at this point since there is not even a budget and we have a quorum with 
the City Commission, to probably not fill those positions for several years until there is a big 
enough budget to where you can actually decide upon projects.   
 
A discussion ensued about the planning board members and other potential members wanting 
to gain experience which could potentially fill the two other vacancies.  The CRA Chair and Vice 
Chair positions could also be held by citizens.   
 
Assistant City Attorney said he thinks Mr. Schmidt raised a very valid point as far as the 
educational background for the potential CRA board members that might come in to replace 
previously existing board members.  The CRA board does have the power and ability to adopt 
rules and regulations and can impose specific training programs that you implement through 
your policies to bring the new board members up to speed.  He concluded by saying this would 
provide a knowledge base for the persons coming into those positions.   
 
Lowell Schmidt said he felt this was the appropriate time to discuss this.  He said the city was 
fortunate that the City Manager has some good CRA experience behind him that can help our 
amateurs at this point. He asked if there were going to term limits. 
 
Chair Daley said the rules and regulations will be discussed and implemented at a later date.  
She asked a question and wanted to know if one of the appointees could be a business owner 



6 
 

in the CRA area or a resident of one of the houses within the CRA?  Would that cause them to 
have to abstain because the CRA is funding streetscaping in front of their business, and they 
would be voting on it which would benefit them. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Claytor said there has to be a direct and immediate pecuniary benefit.   
  
Board Member Duncan said his residence is within the CRA area and wanted to know if he 
would not be allowed to vote on a specific project. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Claytor said direct and immediate is literal.   
 
City Manager Leavengood said the planning board had similar conversations.  The real test is 
if it is immediate, so if it had an ancillary benefit or indirect benefit such as “my business is 
located on Lake Shore and I just approved a half million dollars streetscaping project to beautify 
it; the value will increase, and hopefully I will get more customers - again that is an indirect 
benefit.  You are not cutting a check to that business.  If there is a beautification grant program 
through the CRA and we actually awarded dollars for people who improve their facades that is 
where you would be careful on.  That would then constitute a direct benefit and then you would 
have to abstain from voting. 
 
Judy Schelfo of 640 East Lakeview asked if she was mistaken when she thought there was 
discussion earlier about the planning board serving as the CRA board and when did that get 
changed? 
 
City Manager Leavengood said the planning board can’t serve as the CRA board because that 
would be a violation of the dual office prohibition.  Only the City Commission can serve as the 
board because he believes it is provided for in the statute that they serve in an ex-officio 
capacity.   
 
Judy Schelfo replied and said this seems to me to be a little redundant also.  You all are 
making plans on something you are going to recommend to yourselves and vote on.  That does 
not make any sense either. 
 
City Manager Leavengood said it seems odd in this context but this process is laid down in 
statute that you have to follow A,B,C… and so it seemed kind of funny the way we had to do it 
but we had to create the CRA on second and final reading and then allow for the board to meet 
in order to recommend the plan for consideration on first reading to the City Commission which 
will reconvene following the close of this meeting.   
 
Chair Daley said it is pretty typical for the City Commission to serve as a part of the board. 
 
Judy Schelfo said she didn’t realize that. 
 
City Manager Leavengood said the County Commission actually required it to be the City 
Commission plus the two citizen members. 
 
Judy Schelfo suggested the CRA board consider filling those citizens’ positions now to have 
the citizens input and to have an outside balance on the decisions being made within the first 
year of the board.  She would like to see that happen sooner rather than later just to help the 
process. She concluded by saying unless you are actually a business owner, you don’t really 
know where we are walking out here.   



7 
 

 
City Manager Leavengood said we can cross that bridge when we come to it.  Early on, you 
will then have seven individuals making a decision on a five-thousand dollar budget.  Whereas 
you don’t want to take the experience from the planning board, which are making major 
recommendations to the City Commission on land development regulations through the entire 
city.  It is always a tough balancing act and you need to have good people on all of the boards.   
 
Judy Schelfo responded she understands, but she thinks we should start it out right and have 
the rights mix of people going forward from the beginning.   
 
City Manager Leavengood said just for the record, his comments were directed to the CRA 
board and not the City Commission. 
 
Karen Abdul-Hameed of 825 James Way asked the City Manager if he would be helping them 
and was not a board member. 
 
City Manager Leavengood said he is an officer as well and he could not serve on the board in 
a voting capacity due to the dual office prohibitions.  He went on to say that he, along with the 
Community Development Director, would serve as the staff component. 
 
Board Member Duncan asked if the CRA board would have legal representation at their 
meetings. 
 
Assistant City Attorney Claytor said depending on the matters to be discussed, if the CRA 
board requests legal counsel; legal counsel can be present. 
 
City Manager Leavengood said the CRA board is not a legislative body per se.  The board 
cannot approve ordinances or resolutions or things like that.  It is typically going to be project 
based for the most part.  He said in the three years he was in Auburndale, he does not recall 
any legal questions coming up in the deliberations.  Again the discussions are usually on project 
priorities.  He said the board has to ensure they are complying with the plan, which again is a 
permissive document, and the budget.  The budget is approved through the regular budget 
process and is audited through the City auditor.  It is a turn-key operation. 
 
Board Member Duncan asked if the panel of seven would not have a vote on the budget for 
the CRA? 
 
City Manager Leavengood said they would approve their own budget basically as a 
recommendation, he believes then it will be included within the City’s budget. The City 
Commission would ultimately approve the CRA’s budget in their regular budget process. 
 
Chair Daley said with a motion and a second on the floor; are there any other comments? 
 
Board Member Dearmin said he is thankful for the comments that were made, it makes good 
sense. 
 
A vote was called by the Chair. 
 
CHAIR DALEY     AYE 
VICE CHAIR LAKE    AYE 
BOARD MEMBER DEARMIN  AYE 



8 
 

BOARD MEMBER DUNCAN   AYE 
BOARD MEMBER MAULTSBY  AYE 
 
Board Member Duncan made a motion to adjourn the CRA meeting; seconded by Board 
Member Dearmin; motion was approved by unanimous voice call vote. 
 
CHAIR DALEY     AYE 
VICE CHAIR LAKE    AYE 
BOARD MEMBER DEARMIN  AYE 
BOARD MEMBER DUNCAN   AYE 
BOARD MEMBER MAULTSBY  AYE 
 
 
Without further business, the CRA Meeting adjourned at 9:15 p.m., and the City Commission 
reconvened. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

 

Linda Bourgeois, M.M.C. 

City Clerk 



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

 
 

2.) CRA RESOLUTION 01-15: CRA ANNUAL BUDGET    AMENDED 
 
 
ISSUE: The CRA Board shall consider approval of CRA Resolution 01-15 for the FY 2015/2016 
Operating Budget for the Community Redevelopment Agency to be included to the City of Lake 
Alfred’s annual operating budget for consideration. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 

 CRA Resolution 01-15 - CRA Annual Budget 
 
ANALYSIS: The proposed CRA budget is the first operating budget to be created following the 
creation of the CRA in the fall of 2015. The majority of the $20,000 budget has been placed in 
capital repair and maintenance projects to assist the City in beautification projects over the next 
fiscal year. It may also be able to assist the City in the funding the rollout of downtown wayfinding 
program. Now with a baseline budget, CRA project discussions can be included in the capital 
budget presentation that typically occurs in March of each year. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval of the CRA Resolution 01-15. 
 
 
 



1 | P a g e   C R A  R e s o l u t i o n  0 1 - 1 5  

CRA RESOLUTION NO. 01-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY OF THE CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA, 
ADOPTING A BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 
COMMENCING OCTOBER 1, 2015; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Lake Alfred previously approved Ordinance 1335-14 creating the 
Community Redevelopment Agency of the City of Lake Alfred (CRA); and  

 
 WHEREAS, Florida Statues, Section 189.014(6), requires special districts, including the 
CRA, to adopt an annual budget by resolution; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is anticipated that the CRA will have the benefit of tax increment 
revenues, as well as potentially other funds under the control of the City of Lake Alfred to utilize 
towards redevelopment and implementation of the Community Redevelopment Plans of the City 
of Lake Alfred; and  

 
WHEREAS, for purposes of planning for the fiscal year commencing October 1, 2015, 

the CRA desires to have its budget reflect the tax increment revenues, as well as other 
potentially revenue sources anticipated to be made available to fund redevelopment activities.    
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Board of the CRA of the City 
of Lake Alfred, Florida, as follows:  
 

SECTION 1: BUDGET YEAR.  That the budget for the fiscal year commencing October 
1, 2015, set forth at Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof, is approved 
 

SECTION 2: EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution will take effect immediately upon its 
passage. 
 

INTRODUCED AND PASSED by the Governing Board of the CRA of the City of Lake 
Alfred, Florida, on this 9th day of September, 2015. 
 
       COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT 
       AGENCY OF THE CITY OF LAKE 
       ALFRED, FLORIDA 
 
       BY:       
ATTEST:                     Charles O. Lake, Chairman 
 
 
       
Ameé Bailey-Speck, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
       
Frederick J. Murphy, Jr., City Attorney 



83% Complete

ACCT. ACCOUNT FY 12/13 FY 13/14 FY 14/15 2015 EXP FY 15/16 FY 16/17

# DESCRIPTION ACTUAL ACTUAL BUDGET JULY ‐ EXP % PROP. PLANNED

‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ ‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐

001.000‐ CRA REVENUE

311.120 CRA ‐ Tax Increment County ‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          9,580        9,580     

311.121 CRA ‐ Tax Increment City ‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          10,585      10,585   

============= ========= ============================ ========= =========

‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          0% 20,165      20,165   

001.550‐ CRA EXPENDITURES

432.000 Audit ‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          0% 600           600        

440.300 Training & Travel ‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          0% 565           565        

446.000 R & M Services/Projects ‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          0% 19,000      19,000   

446.100 Capital Projects ‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          0% ‐            ‐         

============= ========= ============================ ========= =========

‐           ‐          ‐          ‐          0% 20,165      20,165   

City of Lake Alfred

COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY

FY 2015‐2016

TOTAL CRA EXPENDITURES

TOTAL CRA EXPENDITURES

abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to CRA Resolution 01-15



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

AGENDA 
 
 
1.) PUBLIC HEARING: ORDINANCE 1355-15: ANNUAL BUDGET ADOPTION 
 
 

ISSUE: The City Commission will consider approving Ordinance No. 1355-15 on first reading for 
adoption of the 2015/2016 Annual Operating Budget. 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 Ordinance No. 1355-15 with 2015/2016 Budget attached as Exhibit A. 

ANALYSIS: Over the past several months the City Commission has been presented with and 
has given conceptual approval to the different sections of the FY 15/16 & FY 16/17 annual 
operating budgets including: Capital, Expenditures, Revenue, and Payroll.  

The proposed FY 15/16 & FY 16/17 budget assembles the previously approved sections into 
the final budget with updates from July’s experience and obtaining final revenue and 
expenditure information. The proposed budgets are consistent with the previous presentations, 
established goals, and are currently balanced with the proposed millage rate of 7.489 which is a 
reduction of one-tenth of a mil from our current rate of 7.589. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  Approval of Ordinance No. 1355-15 on first reading. 



____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Ordinance No. 1355-15  Page 1 of 2 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 1355-15 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA, 
ADOPTING A BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, 
FLORIDA FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING OCTOBER 1, 
2015 AND ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2016 AND 
APPROPRIATIONS AND ALLOCATIONS OF REVENUE FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2015/2016; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS, 
SEVERABILITY, AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 2.11 of the City Charter of the City of Lake Alfred, Florida 
and laws of the State of Florida, a proposed budget of estimated revenues and expenditures and 
complete financial plan of all City funds and activities for Fiscal Year 2015/2016 has been 
prepared and reviewed; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Commission is of the opinion that all of the items of anticipated 
revenues and expenditures for the said fiscal year are reasonable and proper for the 
administration of the affairs of the proper conduct of the business of the City of Lake Alfred; and 
 

WHEREAS, after further review, the City Commission desires to adopt said budget 
attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Commission of the City of Lake Alfred, 
Florida, as follows: 
 
 SECTION 1. BUDGET YEAR. That there is hereby adopted a budget for Fiscal 
Year 2015/2016 for the City of Lake Alfred, Florida, for the period beginning October 1, 2015 and 
ending September 30, 2016. 
 
 SECTION 2: REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES.  That the expenditures of more 
than $20,000 must be approved by the City Commission and that a complete copy of the entire 
budget for Fiscal Year 2015/2016 consisting of estimated revenues and expenditures is attached 
as Exhibit “A” to this ordinance and specifically incorporated herein along with all amendments 
thereto made by this Commission on the date of adoption. 
 
 SECTION 3: CONFLICTS.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances in conflict with 
any provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
 SECTION 4: SEVERABILITY. If any section or portion of a section of this 
Ordinance proves not valid, unlawful or unconstitutional, it shall not be held to invalidate or impair 
the validity, force or effect of any other section or part of this Ordinance. 
 
 



____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Ordinance No. 1355-15  Page 2 of 2 
 

SECTION 5: EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Ordinance shall become effective on October 1, 
2015. 

 
INTRODUCED AND PASSED on first reading at a Regular Meeting of the City 

Commission of Lake Alfred, Florida held this 9th day of September, 2015. 
 

PASSED AND ENACTED ON SECOND READING, with a quorum present and voting, 
the City Commission of Lake Alfred, Florida, this 23rd day of September, 2015. 

 
 
       CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA 
       CITY COMMISSION 
 
 
 
 

________________________________ 
       Charles O. Lake, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Ameé Bailey-Speck, City Clerk 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Frederick J. Murphy, Jr., City Attorney 

 
 



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to Ordinance 1355-15



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

 
2.) ORDINANCE 1356-15: CHAPTER 42 - RECYCLE COLLECTION SERVICES 
 

 
ISSUE: The City Commission will consider amending Section 42 of the Code of Ordinances 
related to sanitation to provide for in-house recycling services. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Ordinance 1356-15: Recycling  
 
ANALYSIS: The City Commission was presented with bids for recycling services at the August 
to commence on October 1st, 2015 following the expiration of our current 3-year agreement with 
Republic at the end of the fiscal year. Following this presentation at the August 17, 2015 
Commission meeting, the City Commission instructed staff to proceed with establishing in-
house recycling services.  
 
The City has received a draft agreement with Republic for drop off of recyclable materials. It is 
currently being reviewed by the City Attorney and staff and will presented at the September 23rd 
(2015) meeting for formal consideration. The draft agreement contains a provision for purchase 
of Republic’s existing receptacles for a total of approximately $30,000; a reduction of $15,000 
from the initial proposed purchase of price of $45,000.  However there is an additional $12,000 
in expense for applying city decals to the containers. This option is less than half of the 
estimated cost of $90,000 for the purchase new containers.  
 
The proposed ordinance amends the sanitation section of the code to allow for in-house 
sanitation services. The proposed ordinance also updates and rebalances the fee schedule 
(cost neutral); converts the restricted portion of the bill into a percentage; provides a budget 
formula to calculate the fuel service charge to equitably pass on increased or reduced fuel costs 
to the customer base; and provides an escalator provision to help account for inflation and 
increased operational costs. 
 

 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approval of Ordinance 1356-15 on first reading. 

  



____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 1 of 2 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 1356-15 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA 
AMENDING CHAPTER 42 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 
THE CITY OF LAKE ALFRED REGARDING SOLID WASTE BY 
AMENDING SECTIONS 42-5 AND 42-7 RELATING TO 
CHARGES AND FEES FOR THE COLLECTION OF SOLID 
WASTE AND REMOVAL OF VEGETATION AND DEBRIS; 
PROVIDING A CONFLICTS, SEVERABILITY, REPEAL OF 
CONFLICTING ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS; AND 
PROVIDING FOR THE ADMINISTRATIVE CORRECTION OF 
SCRIVENER’S ERRORS AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City Commission of the City of Lake Alfred desires to amend Chapter 42 
of the Code of Ordinances regarding Solid Waste; 
 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens and residents of the City of Lake 
Alfred to adopt such revised provisions; 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the City Commission of the City of Lake 

Alfred, Florida, as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: CODE OF ORDINANCES. Chapter 42 of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City of Lake Alfred is amended as set forth in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference (Deletions and additions are shown in strike through – underline format): 

 
SECTION 2: SEVERABILITY. If any provision or portion of this Ordinance is 

declared by any court of competent jurisdiction to be void, unconstitutional, or unenforceable, 
then all remaining provisions and portions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
SECTION 3: CONFLICTS.  All ordinances and resolutions in conflict herewith 

are repealed to the extent necessary to give this Ordinance full force and effect.  
 
SECTION 4: EFFECTIVE DATE.  This ordinance shall become effective immediately 

upon final adoption. 
 

SECTION 5: FORMAT.  It is the intention of the City Commission that the 
provisions of this Ordinance shall become and be made a part of the Code of Ordinances of the 
City; and that sections of this Ordinance may be renumbered or relettered and the word 
"ordinance" may be changed to "chapter", "section", "article", or such other appropriate word or 
phrase in order to accomplish such intentions; and regardless of whether such inclusion in the 
Code is accomplished, sections of this Ordinance may be renumbered or relettered and the 
correction of typographical and/or scrivener’s errors which do not affect the intent may be 



____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 2 of 2 
 

authorized by the City Manager or her designee, without need of public hearing, by filing a 
corrected or recodified copy of same with the City Clerk. 
 

PASSED on first reading at the regular meeting of the Lake Alfred City Commission held 
on the 9th day of September, 2015. 
 

READ, PASSED AND FINALLY ADOPTED on second reading at the meeting of the 
Lake Alfred City Commission duly assembled on the 23rd day of September, 2015. 
 
 

CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA 
CITY COMMISSION 

 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Charles O. Lake, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Amee Bailey-Speck, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Frederick J. Murphy, Jr., City Attorney 

 



EXHIBIT “A” to ORDINANCE 1356-15 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 1 of 6 
 

Chapter 42 - SOLID WASTE

Sec. 42-1. - Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this chapter, shall have the meanings 
ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Appliances: 

(1) Large appliances or household goods: Includes discarded refrigerators, ranges, water 
heaters, freezers, couches, chairs, dressers, mattresses, televisions, tables, and other 
similar domestic and commercial large goods.  
 

(2) Small appliances or household goods: Includes portable televisions; microwaves; 
dormitory or boat; small refrigerators; and other small sized appliances.  

 
Brush means cuttings of grass, leaves, weeds, small branches, shrubs and vines; provided 
that such grass, leaves, weeds are bagged or placed in disposable containers. Branches, 
shrubs and vines are not more than six feet long and are placed at curbside in front of your 
residence or business. May not be the result of land clearing or construction.  

Garbage means any accumulation of either animal or food material, liquid or otherwise, which 
accumulates in the preparation of food, or any offal or refuse of meat, fish, fowl, vegetables or 
other refuse or waste likely to decay or become rancid or obnoxious, and any crockery, 
glassware or earthenware, tin cans, cartons, or other package material or wrappings coming in 
contact with any food material.  

Garbage receptacle means a waste container used to temporarily store trash and garbage as 
defined within this chapter and as approved by the City of Lake Alfred.  

Refuse. Items or material discarded or rejected as useless or worthless; trash or rubbish.  

Trash/junk. Any refuse other than garbage. It shall include outdoor play equipment, toys, 
outdoor furniture, wood containers, and other similar items too large to place in garbage 
receptacles and must be placed in separate piles.  

Sec. 42-2. - Mandatory use required. 

The use of the city solid waste collection service is mandatory for all occupied residential and 
commercial properties in the city.  

Sec. 42-3. - Maintenance required by specified establishments. 

Every person owning or operating any hotel, boardinghouse, restaurant, cafe, dining room, 
drugstore, or any other store or market, or owning or occupying any residence, boardinghouse or 
apartment building in the city, who shall have any garbage on the premises shall keep and maintain 
at all times a garbage receptacle to meet the specifications set out in Section 42-1. Such garbage 
receptacle shall be kept maintained on the property of such person, in a place to be designated by 
the director of public works.  



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 2 of 6 
 

Sec. 42-4. - Condemned. 

Whenever any garbage receptacle shall become soiled from garbage, it shall be cleaned by the 
owner or by the occupant of the premises using such receptacle. Whenever any garbage receptacle 
becomes unusable, or will no longer hold liquid, it shall be condemned by the director of public works 
or his deputy. It shall be the duty of the director of public works to condemn and dispose of any 
container used for the purpose of receiving garbage that does not or shall not meet the 
specifications designated and required by this chapter.  

Sec. 42-5. - Administration. 

(aA)  The city manager shall be in charge of and responsible for the collection of solid waste 
material by the city. He may delegate his authority to the public works director, who shall be in 
immediate charge of such collection and disposal. For the purpose of administering this 
chapter, the following categories and requirements for solid waste collection are established:  

 
(1) Residential collections shall include collections of all solid waste collections for all dwelling 

units, by the city, including multifamily apartments and similar complexes electing to use a 
commercial refuse container approved by the city. All refuse must be bagged.  
 

(2) Residential recycling service shall be provided to all single-family dwellings and mobile 
homes or apartment buildings by the contractor who has an agreement with the city as to 
removal of such items to be recycled. Specific regulations on the program and services 
offered are included in the service agreement approved between the City of Lake Alfred 
and said private contractor.  
 

(3) Commercial collections shall include all other collections of solid waste, other than 
residential collections, by the city. All refuse must be bagged and drained of all liquids. All 
establishments using dumpsters must have a concrete or asphalt pad 12 feet wide and 
ten feet long, located in an area so as to allow clear movement of service vehicles. If a 
dumpster is going to face a public road it shall have a closed in area so not to be seen by 
the public.  

(b) 
The city shall collect a service charge, or fee, based upon the following schedules: 

TABLE (A) 
RESIDENTIAL COLLECTIONS 
RATE SCHEDULE, INSIDE CITY LIMITS  

   

One standard 95-gallon receptacle 
Smaller containers are available by request and are charged as same monthly 
fee as standard 95-gallon receptacles  

 
$17.00

Each additional receptacle over 95 gallons, per receptacle $7.00 
For each additional collection, per collection request; or for items placed outside 
of receptacle, per collection  

$5.50 
 

Single-family dwellings and mobile homes or apartment buildings using 
receptacles, for one collection per week:  

Per 
Collection

Per 
Month 



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 3 of 6 
 

TABLE (B) 
RESIDENTIAL COLLECTIONS FOR RECYCLING 
RATE SCHEDULE, INSIDE CITY LIMITS ONLY  

   

Single-family dwellings and mobile homes or apartment buildings using receptacle, for 
one collection per week by private contractor:   

$2.33 

 
Per 

Collection 
Per 
Month 

TABLE (C) 
COMMERCIAL COLLECTIONS OF SOLID WASTE 
STANDARD COMMERCIAL (95-GALLON RECEPTACLE, MAXIMUM) 
RATES PER MONTH  

   

One standard 95-gallon receptacle 
Smaller containers are available by request and are charged as same monthly fee as 
standard 95-gallon receptacles  

 
$20.75

Each additional receptacle, per receptacle $10.40
For each additional collection, per collection request $12.50
For items placed outside of receptacle, per collection $7.00
Commercial customers using receptacles, for one 
collection per week: 

Per 
Collection 

Per Month

   

(c) 
All residential customers shall make a deposit of an amount equal to two months' billing before 
the beginning of collections from such customers, the deposit to be refunded at the termination 
of the service.  

(d) 
Commercial customers shall make a deposit of an amount equal to two months' billing before 
the beginning of collections from such customers, the deposit to be returned at the termination 
of the service.  

(e) 
Mobile home parks or apartment buildings inside the city using dumpsters shall pay $14.50 per 
month for each mobile home or apartment or trailer space provided, for one collection per 
week.  

(f) 
From each monthly charge set forth in this section, $0.84 shall be set aside and placed in a 
renewal and replacement fund by the city treasurer and used to fund the replacement of city 
sanitation equipment. In addition, from each monthly charge set forth in this section, $2.16 shall 
be set aside and placed in a vehicle replacement fund by the city treasurer and used for the 
sole purpose of funding the replacement of sanitation garbage trucks.  

(g) 
In addition to the above charges an additional fuel adjustment charge of $3.94 per customer, 
per month shall be charged on each utility billing statement as a fuel adjustment charge. This 



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 4 of 6 
 

fuel adjustment charge shall be increased by three percent each October 1 after the effective 
date of the ordinance from which this section derives.  

(h) 
A moratorium on the increase and collection of the automatic annual fuel adjustment charge 
increase will be in effect for one fiscal year beginning October 1, 2011. This moratorium will 
sunset without further action by the city commission on September 30, 2012. Once the 
moratorium established herein sunsets as provided herein, the automatic annual fuel 
adjustment charge will automatically be increased by three percent as of October 1 of each 
year.  

(Ord. No. 1281-10, exh. A, 9-20-2010; Ord. No. 1295-11, § 1(exh. A), 9-7-2011)  

(B) The following schedule shall be the “Residential Collection Rate” charged for monthly 
sanitation services for each customer within the City of Lake Alfred: 
 

 

(1) Smaller containers may be available by request and are charged at the same monthly fee 
as the standard sized receptacles. 
 

(2) Each additional sanitation receptacle shall incur a $7.00 monthly service fee per customer 
in addition to the residential collection rate. 
 

(3) Each additional recycling receptacle shall incur a $4.00 monthly service fee per customer 
in addition to the residential collection rate. 
 

(4) The residential collection rate is for once a week pickup. A $5.50 fee shall be charged to a 
customer for each additional collection; or for items collected that are placed outside of the 
receptacle. 

 
(C) All residential customers shall make a deposit of an amount equal to two months’ billing 

before the beginning of collections from such customers, the deposit to be refunded at the 
termination of the service. 
 

(D) Mobile Home Parks, Apartment Buildings, or other multiunit customers shall utilize the 
Residential Collection Rate for each unit, for one collection per week. 
 

(E) Commercial, Industrial, and Institutional customers may be provided residential service in 
the same manner as other residential customers but shall be charged an additional twenty 
percent (20%) surcharge on the Residential Collection Rate. Alternatively, Commercial, 
Industrial, and Institutional customers may provide for their own sanitation through a private 
dumpster service with a twenty percent (20%) surcharge payable to the City on the fee 



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 5 of 6 
 

charged by the private service in accordance with Section 42-8 of the Code of Ordinances of 
the City of Lake Alfred. 
 

(F) In addition to the Residential Collection Rate each customer shall be charged an additional 
monthly “fuel service charge” based upon the budgeted amount of fuel for the Sanitation 
Department and proportionately cost allocated to the customer base based upon the 
following formula: Budgeted Fuel Amount / estimated # of existing customers / 12 + 10% = 
monthly fuel service charge (e.g. $55,000 / 2,000 Customers / 12 + 10% = $2.52 monthly 
fuel service charge per customer). The foregoing fuel service charge shall be calculated as 
a part of the annual budget process and changes to the fuel service charge amount shall 
take effect on October 1st of each year.    
 

(G) From each monthly service charge collected on the Residential Collection Rate set forth in 
section (A) above eleven percent (11%) shall be set aside in a vehicle replacement fund by 
the city treasurer and used to fund the purchase of additional or replacement city sanitation 
trucks. In addition, four percent (4%) shall be set aside and placed in an equipment fund by 
the city treasurer and used to fund the purchase of additional or replacement city sanitation 
equipment and capital. 
 

(H) Inflation/Escalation Clause: The Residential Collection Rate and other fees set forth within 
Section (B) above shall automatically increase on October 1st of every even calendar year 
by three percent (3%) from each preceding biennial cycle’s rates (e.g. 2016, 2018). 

Sec. 42-6. - Method of placement. 

All solid waste, except dry solid waste, shall have drained from it all free liquids and wrapped in 
paper or other material. It should be bagged and placed in garbage receptacles with lids prior to 
collection. It shall be prohibited to place animal, human or fowl manure in any collection container. 
All rubbish shall be drained of liquid before being deposited for collection. Tree trimmings, hedge 
clippings and similar waste material shall be cut to a length not exceeding six feet and securely tied 
in bundles not more than four feet thick before being deposited for collection. Grass clippings, leaves 
and other yard materials shall be bagged or placed in a disposable container before depositing for 
collection. All tires may be picked up for an additional fee. All collections shall be placed at curbside 
in front of a residence or business. It shall be prohibited to place any garbage, trash, brush, 
appliance or other debris on properties other than on property you lawfully occupy. Any resident that 
is physically unable to comply with curbside requirements will be given special consideration.  

Sec. 42-7. - Charges for collection of vegetation, contract labor debrisand removal of 
vegetation and debris. 

(A) The cityPublic Works Director under the direction of the City Manager will establish 
separate charges for the collection and removal of tree stumps, limbs, appliances, 
furniture, tires, miscellaneous debris, debris on commercial property or branchesdebris 
resulting from commercial tree removal, provideding thatey branches are cut to a size that 
can be loaded by city equipment. Small clippings, leaves and grass must be placed in 
bags, disposable boxes or disposable containers on city right-of-way at the curb in front of 
your occupancy.  



 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 
Exhibit A to Ordinance No. 1356-15                              Page 6 of 6 
 

 
(B) The disposal of debris resulting from remodeling, repairs or contract labor is the 

responsibility of the contractor or owner, who may request special pickup for additional 
fees. The city will pick up debris resulting from homeowner or do-it-yourself projects when 
it is deposited at the normal collection point and does not exceed 75 pounds in weight.  

Sec. 42-8. - Removal or disposal of garbage by persons other than city employees; 
surcharge. 

(A) The city shall have the sole authority to dispose of solid waste within the city limits. In 
cases where the city has determined that it is unable to provide specific sanitation 
services needed, private haulers may be permitted. No person or agency shall contract or 
permit himself to be employed for the private disposal of garbage unless such person or 
agency has been authorized by agreement with the city to provide collection services.  
In all cases in which garbage is removed or disposed of by persons other than employees of 
the city, the owner or the occupant of the premises shall utilize only those persons or 
agencies that are authorized by the city to provide collection service.  

(B) There will be a 20 percent surcharge payable to the city by the contractor on a monthly 
basis on the charges of all garbage and trash removal from within the city limits by private 
contractors.   

Sec. 42-9. - Collections fees added to monthly water bills; discontinuance of water service of 
delinquent user authorized. 

The fees as set forth in this chapter shall be collected by the city's utility billing division by 
adding such amount to the monthly water bills of all premises within the city coming under the 
provisions of this chapter. If any user shall fail, neglect or refuse to pay the fee imposed and required 
by this section, the city shall have and is invested with the right to immediately discontinue further 
water service to such user until the charge shall have been paid.  

Sec. 42-10. - Garbage pickup of recyclable items or hazardous materials prohibited; violation, 
penalty for removal of items without permission. 

(A) No person shall place for garbage pickup any recyclables or hazardous materials except 
as permitted by regulations adopted in this chapter. Any items determined by the city 
manager to be unacceptable for city garbage pickup, or prohibited by this Code, shall not 
be picked up by the city-authorized garbage trucks. Any accumulation of such articles in 
the city shall subject the violator of this section to the sanctions as provided in Section 2-
276 et seq. of this Code of Ordinances.  
 

(B) All items placed on city right-of-way or property for recycling purposes shall become the 
property of the contractor who has an agreement with the city as to removal of such 
property to be recycled. Any person removing such property without the prior permission 
of the city or the city's contractor shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punishable 
as provided in Section 1-14 of this Code of Ordinances.  

Sec. 42-11. - Collection of fees. 

All users of city garbage collection service shall be billed by the city and collected as provided 
in Section 58-211 of this Code of Ordinances.  



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

 
3.) RESOLUTION 07-15: PROPERTY EXCHANGE 
 

 
ISSUE: The City Commission will consider approval of resolution 07-15 accepting conveyance 
of land from Eagle Ridge, Inc. 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 Resolution 07-15 

 
ANALYSIS: The proposed resolution formally accepts and completes the property exchange 
with Eagle-Ridge for the Buchanan & Hughes Building that the City Commission has previously 
approved. 
 
 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Approve Resolution 07-15. 
 
 
  



1 | P a g e   R e s o l u t i o n  0 7 - 1 5  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 07-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA; AFFIRMATIVELY ACCEPTING THE 
EXCHANGE/CONVEYANCE OF THAT CERTAIN REAL 
PROPERTY FROM EAGLE-RIDGE, INCORPORATED TO THE 
CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA, AS MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED IN THAT SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED EXECUTED 
BY EAGLE-RIDGE, INCORPORATED ON JUNE 30, 2015, AND 
RECORDED ON JULY 1, 2015, IN OFFICIAL RECORDS BOOK 
9566, PAGES 548 THROUGH 549, PUBLIC RECORDS OF POLK 
COUNTY, FLORIDA; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Lake Alfred and Eagle-Ridge, Incorporated entered into an 
Agreement for Land Exchange (hereinafter “Agreement”) which provided for a 1031 Exchange 
(under the rules and regulations of the Internal Revenue Service) of real properties that are 
reasonably equivalent in value to each party to the transaction; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on June 30, 2015, a closing of the transaction contemplated in the Agreement 
took place and on June 30, 2015, Eagle-Ridge, Incorporated delivered that Special Warranty 
Deed for the real property more particularly described therein and attached hereto as Exhibit “A” 
and incorporated herein by reference to the City of Lake Alfred, Florida. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF 
LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA, that: 
 

SECTION 1. PROPERTY.  The City Commission of the City of Lake Alfred, Florida 
hereby affirmatively accepts from Eagle-Ridge, Incorporated said real property described in that 
Special Warranty Deed dated June 30, 2015, and recorded on July 1, 2015, in Official Records 
Book 9566, Pages 548 through 549, public records of Polk County, Florida and attached hereto 
as Exhibit “A” and incorporated herein by reference. 

 
SECTION 2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately 

upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED IN PUBLIC SESSION of the City Commission of the City of Lake Alfred, Florida, this 
9th day of September, 2015. 
 



2 | P a g e   R e s o l u t i o n  0 7 - 1 5  
 

 
CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA 

       CITY COMMISSION 
 
 
 
 
              
ATTEST:                    Charles O. Lake, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
       
Ameé Bailey Speck, City Clerk 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
 
       
Frederick J. Murphy, Jr., City Attorney 
 
 



 
 
EXHIBIT "A" 
to Resolution 07-15



 
 
EXHIBIT "A" 
to Resolution 07-15



LAKE ALFRED CITY COMMISSION MEETING 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2015 

 
 
4.)  RESOLUTION 08-15: UPDATED CITY MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  
  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

 Resolution 08-15 & Updated Employment Agreement 
 Letter of Request 
 ICMA Model Employment Agreement 

 

ANALYSIS:   The City Manager is one of three contracted employees that reports directly to the 
City Commission and whose services are provided for through an agreement (Auditor, City 
Attorney). The City Manager’s employment agreement allows for changes to the agreement.  
The changes must to be presented to the City Commission following a performance evaluation 
and in advance of the adoption of the annual operating budget. The most recent evaluation was 
completed in March of 2015 with an overall ranking of 4.79 out of 5 with the final budget for FY 
16/17 set to be approved on September 23rd, 2015. 

The proposed updated employment agreement includes a cleanup of the language, updated 
procedural elements, and several requested benefit provisions including: 

 Increase in annual leave accrual 
 Supplemental insurance benefits 
 Buy in option for the general employee retirement system 

The requested benefit provisions are consistent with the ICMA Model Employment Agreement 
and have been included in the preparation of the budget with a FY 16/17 cost of approximately 
$14,000. The proposed amendment does not include any changes to the annual salary.  The 
City Manager position’s starting salary is equal to 81% of the market average based upon the 
salary survey and consistent with the established goal of at least an 80% starting salary for all 
positions within the City.  

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: Pleasure of the City Commission (requesting approval of the 
agreement with the requested options). 

 

 



1 | P a g e   R e s o l u t i o n  0 8 - 1 5  
 

RESOLUTION NO. 08-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA, 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF THE UPDATED CITY 
MANAGER EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT WITH RYAN 
LEAVENGOOD; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICTS AND AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, the City of Lake Alfred desires to continue to employ the services of Ryan 
Leavengood as its City Manager; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Manager and the City Commission desire to execute the Updated 
Employment Agreement hereinafter referred to as the Agreement. 
 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Commission of the City of Lake 
Alfred, Florida, that  
 

SECTION 1: EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT.  The Updated Employment Agreement is 
hereby approved and the Mayor is hereby authorized and directed to execute the Agreement 
with Ryan Leavengood, a copy of which is attached hereto and referenced as Exhibit “A”. 
 

SECTION 2: CONFLICT.  All Resolutions inconsistent with this Resolution are 
repealed to the extent necessary to give this Resolution full force and affect. 
 

SECTION 3: EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution will take effect immediately upon its 
passage by the City Commission. 
 

INTRODUCED AND PASSED by the City Commission of the City of Lake Alfred, 
Florida, in a regular session this 9th day of September, 2015. 
 
       CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA 
       CITY COMMISSION 
 
 
              

Charles O. Lake, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Ameé Bailey-Speck, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
 
       
Frederick J. Murphy, Jr., City Attorney 



 Page 1 of 15 

CITY OF LAKE ALFRED, FLORIDA 
CITY MANAGER  

UPDATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 
   
 THIS UPDATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (  hereafter “AGREEMENT”), made 

and entered into this 9th day of September, 2015, by and between the City of Lake Alfred, Florida, a 

municipal corporation, hereinafter referred to as “CITY”, and Ryan Leavengood, hereinafter referred to 

as “EMPLOYEE”. 

  WHEREAS, the Employee entered into an employment agreement on February 13th, 2012 for 

employment as City Manager of the City of Lake Alfred, Polk County, Florida; and 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Employee desire to operate under the terms and conditions of this 

updated Agreement; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission has passed Resolution No. 05-14 on March 17, 2014, 

approving an updated Employment Agreement and authorizing the Mayor to execute same. 

  NOW THEREFORE, the City does hereby continue to employ the services of Ryan 

Leavengood as its City Manager under, and in accordance with, the following terms and conditions: 

SECTION 1. RECITALS INCORPORATED. 

The above recitals are hereby incorporated into this Agreement and form a factual basis for the 

entry into this Agreement. 

SECTION 2. DUTIES. 

  A. The Employee shall be the Chief Administrative Officer of the City.  He shall be 

responsible to the City Commission for the administration of all City affairs placed in his charge by and 

under the Charter of the City and Ordinances of the City. 

 B. Employee shall perform other legally permissible and proper duties and functions as the 

City Commission shall, from time to time direct. 

abailey
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A" to RESOLUTION 08-15



 Page 2 of 15 

SECTION 3. TERM. 

 This Agreement shall take effect on this 9th day of September, 2015.  The commencement of 

employment was March 5, 2012. Employee shall serve as City Manager at the pleasure of the Lake 

Alfred City Commission unless removed as set forth in §3.02(b) of the Charter of the City of Lake 

Alfred. 

SECTION 4. SALARY. 

 City shall pay Employee for his services an annual starting base salary based upon the following 

schedule: 

• 3/17/2014: $80,000 

• 10/1/2014: $82,500 

• 10/1/2015: $85,000 

The salary under this section will be payable in such installments, at the same time as other employees.  

In addition to the previous, Employee shall receive and carry forward all cost of living and other 

increases to his base salary from the commencement of employment in the same amount and manner as 

all other City employees without further City Commission action. In addition the City Commission 

agrees to increase Employee’s salary and/or benefits in such amounts and to such extent as the City 

Commission may determine on the basis of a performance evaluation of said Employee as set forth in 

Section 5 of this Agreement. 

SECTION 5. PERFORMANCE EVALUATION. 

 The City Commission shall review and evaluate the performance of the Employee at least once 

(SUPPLEMENTAL REQUEST #1) annuallybiennially, in advance of the adoption of the annual 

operating budget utilizing evaluation instruments acceptable to both the City Commission and the 

Comment [RL1]: Changes standard evaluation to 
at “least” once every two years. After three years of 
working with the City I think we’ve established a 
solid working relationship and baseline of 
performance and one year just goes by so quickly. It 
also decreases the likelihood of having a new 
Commissioner that would be seated at the beginning 
of the year from having to evaluate me without 
having gone through a budget cycle yet. The 
Commission can always request an evaluation at any 
time.  



 Page 3 of 15 

Employee.  The Employee shall be entitled to discuss his evaluation with the City Commission as 

deemed necessary. 

SECTION 6. HOURS OF WORK. 

City expects that the Employee will be generally available at City Administration (subject to 

phone calls, emails, scheduled meetings, etc.) during normal working hours in the same manner as other 

exempt employees, Monday through Friday. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is recognized that the 

Employee must devote a great deal of time outside of the office and normal working hours to business of 

the City and shall be allowed to accrue and to take reasonable compensatory time off as he shall deem 

appropriate during the normal office hours. Compensatory time shall follow the same guidelines and 

provisions for other leave benefits as established in Section 9 of this Agreement. 

SECTION 7. SEVERANCE PAY.  

A. If employment is terminated by a majority vote of all the City Commissioners pursuant to 

§3.02(b) of the Charter of the City of Lake Alfred, the Employee shall receive upon demand and 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary except as provided in subparagraphs B and C below, an amount 

equivalent to twenty weeks (or 800 hours) of the Employee’s total compensation as severance pay and 

an amount equivalent to any accrued sick leave, vacation, compensatory time, administrative leave, 

holiday, and other accrued benefits without reduction and paid at the Employee’s hourly rate of total 

compensation. The foregoing payment shall be provided in a single lump sum or at the election of the 

Employee, multiple payments within one (1) year of separation for tax liability purposes (e.g. half upon 

separation and half on January 1st). 

B. If the Employee voluntarily terminates his employment he shall receive upon demand and 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary an amount equivalent to any accrued sick leave, vacation, 



 Page 4 of 15 

compensatory time, administrative leave, holiday, and other accrued benefits without reduction but no 

severance pay. 

C.  In the event the Employee is terminated during the term of this Agreement because of a 

conviction of a felony or crime involving moral turpitude; or for cause of malfeasance or misfeasance of 

office or misconduct as defined in Section 443.036(30) of the Florida Statutes, then, in that event, City 

shall have no obligation to pay any severance pay.  

E. In addition to the notification requirements established in Section 2-182(b) of the Code of 

Ordinances the Employee shall give at least a thirty (30) day notice of any intention to separate from 

employment with the City. Provisions or events not contemplated within this section shall be governed 

by the City of Lake Alfred Personnel Manual in the same manner as other Regular Full Time employees.  

SECTION 8. AUTOMOBILE. 

Employee’s duties require that he shall have the exclusive and unrestricted use at all times during 

his employment with the City of an automobile provided to him by the Employer.  In lieu of City 

providing such a vehicle and being responsible for paying for liability, property damage, and 

comprehensive insurance and for the purchase or lease, operation, maintenance, repair and regular 

replacement of said automobile and fuel costs, the Employer shall provide the Employee a biweekly 

automobile allowance of $250. Said monthly automobile allowance shall be considered full 

reimbursement for use of the Employee’s personal automobile within Polk County, Florida. 

Notwithstanding and in addition to the expense limitations set forth in section 13 of this Agreement, 

Employee shall receive an amount equal to the standard mileage and full day per diem allowance 

provided by the City for travel outside of Polk County, Florida.  In lieu of reimbursement for outside of 

Polk County travel, Employee shall use to the extent possible an available City vehicle for such travel.  



 Page 5 of 15 

Employee shall have a valid Florida Driver’s License and maintain insurance on the vehicle during the 

term of this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 9. VACATION, SICK LEAVE, HOLIDAYS AND OTHER BENEFITS. 

 Employee shall be treated as an employee having completed five (5) years of service with the 

City for all purposes related to sick leave, vacation leave, holiday leave and other benefits as a Regular 

Full Time employee as specified in the City of Lake Alfred Personnel Manual and accrue, and have 

credited to his personal account, vacation leave, administrative leave, sick leave, holiday leave, and 

other benefits as provided for in this section, as though the Employee had completed five (5) years of 

service with the City upon commencement of employment with the City.  Additional time in service 

from the commencement of employment shall be credited to the five (5) year base on a two-for-one 

basis to determine eligibility for additional benefits. (REQUESTED LEAVE PROVISION) In addition 

to the previous, Employee shall annually receive forty (40) hours of administrative leave and an 

additional eight (8) hours of administrative leave for each unadjusted year of service following the 

commencement of employment.  (ALTERNATE LEAVE PROVISION) In addition to the previous, 

Employee shall annually receive eighty (80) hours of administrative leave that shall be credited to his 

personal account. The provisions within this section shall not apply towards qualifying for permissive 

service credits in the General Employee Retirement System or step adjustments to base salary. 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, all benefits pursuant to this section shall be received once per 

fiscal year in a lump sum without reduction, shall vest with the Employee upon being credited to his 

personal account, shall accrue without limit and any balances shall be disbursed at the hourly rate of the 

Employee’s compensation upon request or as contemplated in Section 7 of this Agreement. 

SECTION 10. INSURANCE BENEFITS. 

Comment [RL2]: Additional leave time is not an 
uncommon provision in management contracts. I’ve 
seen manager contracts with 6-10 weeks of total 
annual leave time. Former Lake Alfred City 
Manager Shockley had a similar provision in her 
contract for 2 additional weeks of vacation time and 
had a maximum accrual of 6 weeks of annual 
vacation leave. This provision would initially 
increase my vacation leave time from 3 to 4 weeks 
with a base cap of 5 weeks and one additional day 
per year of service making it a scaled and longer 
term benefit. My personal take on this benefit since 
you could probably not consistently use all of the 
additional leave time is that it takes the place of a 
bonus or equity provision (e.g. stock options) that 
are more commonly seen in private sector 
management positions. 
 
FY 15/16 Budget Impact: $3k 

Comment [RL3]: Identical benefit to what City 
Manager Shockley had in her agreement.  
 
FY 15/16 Budget Impact: $4k 

Comment [RL4]: Manager contracts will often 
have provisions for additional or supplemental 
benefits (family health coverage, life insurance equal 
to x3 salary, long/short term disability, etc.). These 
benefits are identified in the ICMA Model 
Employment Agreement.  
 
The options below: 



 Page 6 of 15 

 The City shall provide at its expense and as a part of the Employee’s compensation full major 

medical, dental and life insurance under the plan provided to all other City Employees or at the election 

of the Employee an allowance equal to the same.  

 (REQUESTED BENEFIT PROVISION: Replaces section): The City shall provide at its expense and as 

a part of the Employee’s compensation full major family medical, dental and life insurance under the 

plan provided to all other City Employees or at the election of the Employee an allowance equal to half 

of the same. In addition to the previous, the City shall provide the Employee with full long term 

disability insurance and life insurance equal to three times (x3) his total salary or at the election of the 

Employee an allowance equal to the same. Beginning on October 1, 2015 any elective family allowance 

taken in lieu of the foregoing family benefits provided under this section shall be equal to the lesser of 

the cost of providing said benefit(s) or up to $100 per pay period and an additional $100 per pay period 

each fiscal year thereafter (e.g. 10/1/16: $200 per pay period). 

(ALTERNATE BENEFIT PROVISION): In addition to the previous and in lieu of any additional City 

provided family or supplemental health, disability, or life insurance benefits the City agrees to provide 

the Employee an allowance equal to the difference in the proportional individual insurance benefit 

provided to the Employee and the median city employee as a percentage of total salary (e.g. If the 

annual value of the City provided insurance benefits were equal to 5% of the Employee’s total salary 

and 15% of the median employee’s total salary, the Employee would receive an amount equal to 10% of 

his total salary for family and supplemental benefits).  Beginning on October 1, 2015 the foregoing 

allowance shall be equal to the lesser of the amount of the foregoing calculation or $200 per pay period 

and an additional $100 per pay period each fiscal year thereafter (e.g. 10/1/16: $300 per pay period). 

Said allowance shall not exceed twenty percent (20%) of the Employee’s total salary and shall be paid in 

Comment [RL5]: Directly provides the benefits 
through the City’s plan or allows for an allowance 
equal to half the value if I purchased my own 
insurance from outside the City. 
 
The benefits outlined here are consistent with the 
ICMA Model Agreement. 
 
FY 15/16 Impact: $5k in benefits 
Remaining $5k phased in over 2 years 



 Page 7 of 15 

the same installments as regular base salary and may be used by the Employee to purchase additional 

benefits under the plans provided by the City. 

 

SECTION 11. HOLD HARMLESS INDEMNIFICATION. 

 City shall defend, save harmless and indemnify Employee against any tort, professional liability 

claim, demand or other legal action or omission occurring in the performance of Employee’s duties as 

City Manager, as covered by a standard Professional Liability insurance policy.  In furtherance and not 

in limitation hereof, after Employee leaves City employment and/or ceases to serve as City Manager, 

City agrees to continue the policy of liability insurance covering Employee against any tort, professional 

liability claim, demand or other legal action arising out of acts which occurred during Employee’s term 

of employment as City Manager for a period not less than three (3) years.  Nothing herein shall be 

construed to require the City to indemnify or hold Employee harmless of any illegal act and/or ultra 

vires committed by the Employee. 

SECTION 12. RETIREMENT. 

A. The City agrees to make contributions for the benefit of the Employee to any retirement, investment, 

or student loan account designated by the Employee equal to the greater of the Florida Retirement 

System’s total contribution rate for the Senior Management Service Class or the total annual cost of 

the City’s general employee retirement plan and calculated as a percentage of total pensionable 

salary and wages of employees participating in the general retirement plan from the respective fiscal 

year. The Employee shall vest in the highest of the foregoing contribution rates experienced during 

his tenure with the City. Contributions shall be made on the compensation of the Employee and any 

contributions made by the City shall immediately vest in Employee upon contribution by the City.  

Comment [RL6]:  The average employee’s 
insurance benefit package is equal to 18% of their 
base salary as compared to 6% of my salary. This 
option phases in the difference in the proportional 
insurance benefit received by myself and the other 
city employees and allows me to fund my own 
supplemental benefits (life insurance, disability 
insurance, dependent coverage, etc.). 
 
FY 15/16 Budget: $5k 
Remaining $7k phased in over 4 years. 



 Page 8 of 15 

B.  (REQUESTED RETIREMENT PROVISION): In addition to the previous, the City shall provide at 

its expense and as a part of the Employee’s compensation his full: participation; membership; and 

prior service credits; in the City’s General Employee Retirement System. In the event the Employee 

vests within the General Employee’s Retirement System, the Employee shall, as a requirement under 

this provision, transfer up to half of the post-tax and penalty (if any are applied) retirement 

contributions received on pensionable compensation from the City pursuant to Section 12(A) of this 

Agreement to the City’s General Employee Retirement System and thereafter receive half the 

retirement benefit from Section 12(A) on pensionable compensation while the Employee continues 

to accrue service credit in the General Employee Retirement System.  

C. (ALTERNATE RETIREMENT PROVISION): In addition to the previous, the City shall provide at 

its expense and as a part of the Employee’s compensation: participation; membership; and prior 

service credits; in the City’s General Employee Retirement System. In the event the Employee vests 

within the General Employee’s Retirement System, the Employee shall, as a requirement under this 

provision, transfer up to two-thirds (66%) of the post-tax and penalty (if any are applied) retirement 

contributions received on pensionable compensation from the City pursuant to Section 12(A) to the 

City’s General Employee Retirement System and thereafter receive one-third (33%) of the 

retirement benefit from Section 12(A) on pensionable compensation while the Employee continues 

to accrue service credit in the General Employee Retirement System.  

D. In the event the Employee is unable to participate in or no longer accrues service credit in the 

General Employee’s Retirement System (i.e. closed to new members) under section 12(B) of this 

Agreement and in recognition of the significant impact this has on the Employee’s total 

compensation the City shall make an annual contribution as a part of the Employee’s compensation 

Comment [RL7]: The value of the City’s defined 
benefit pension plan is worth significantly more than 
the benefit received from the defined contribution in 
Section 12.A. Additionally, it is a guaranteed benefit 
that doesn’t have to be actively managed by the 
employee, which is a significant benefit. I would 
like the opportunity for the same base retirement 
benefit as other city employees. This is a longer 
term provision, the true value of which would not 
be realized until after 10 years of service with the 
City, making it a long term employee retention 
tool. 
 
The ICMA Model Agreement calls for the manager’s 
participation in their state or local pension with costs 
paid for by the City along with an additional smaller 
defined contribution. This provision is consistent 
with the ICMA model agreement. Upon reaching 
vesting (10 years), half the contribution received to 
date will be refunded to the pension to help offset 
participation in the retirement system and half will 
continue to be invested in the employee. 
 
FY 15/16 Budget Impact: $5,000* 
 
*Offset by the buyback provision. Pension will 
account for participation in same manner as other 
employees.  

Comment [RL8]: Identical to Option 1 except 
with a reduced defined contribution benefit (one 
third instead of one half). 
 
FY 15/16 Budget Impact: $5,000* 
 
*Offset by the buyback provision. Pension will 
account for participation in same manner as other 
employees. 



 Page 9 of 15 

to any retirement or investment account designated by the Employee equal to the 457(b) elected 

deferral limit that shall immediately vest in Employee upon contribution by the City. 

SECTION 13. GENERAL BUSINESS EXPENSES. 

A. The City agrees to budget for and to pay for professional dues of the International City and 

County Manager’s Association and the Florida City and County Managers Association. Additionally, 

City agrees to budget for and to pay for registration, travel, subsistence, and associated expenses of 

Employee for the annual Florida City and County Managers Association Conference & the annual 

Florida League of Cities Conference. 

B. The City recognizes that the professional and personal development of the Employee is 

beneficial to the City and that the Employee will incur expenses in the performance of his duties. In lieu 

of Employee approving his own training, travel, and general expenses the Employee shall be provided 

an annual allowance or payment equal to the greater of $5,000 or the budgeted amount (“expense 

allowance”) for training, general expenses and professional/personal development (SUPPLEMENTAL 

REQUEST #2) and additionally provide reimbursement for up to six (6) credit hours of postgraduate 

tuition and related expenses per semester for continuing education. This amount shall be construed as 

the total benefit and remuneration for continuing education, training, and general expenses and the 

Employee shall not be eligible for any other general City policy providing for such unless otherwise 

provided for within this Agreement or authorized by the City Commission. Employee may elect to 

receive disbursements from the foregoing allowance and/or utilize the City as purchasing agent or 

provider for such expenses and reimburse the City for the same. Notwithstanding and in addition to the 

previous, the City acknowledges its responsibility to provide general operating and office supplies for 

the use of the Employee in the performance of his duties to the City. 

Comment [RL9]: No current plans to take any 
university classes for several years but “may” 
consider it at some point; especially for business or 
finance that would be beneficial to my position. 
Included for completion and so I wouldn’t have to 
propose a future amendment to the agreement in case 
5 years from now I wanted to take a few classes at 
UCF/USF. 
 
No immediate Budget impact. If I did consider 
taking classes in the future I would increase the 
tuition reimbursement line item in the budget 
process. 



 Page 10 of 15 

C. Employee’s duties require that he shall utilize mobile and home based communication, 

computer, electronic devices, and associated data usage. In lieu of providing such and being responsible 

for their service, repair, and replacement charges the City shall provide the Employee with a biweekly 

electronic device and mobile phone allowance of (SUPPLEMENTAL REQUEST #3: $75$50. 

Employee may utilize the City as a purchasing agent or provider for any devices or service and 

reimburse the City for the same.  

SECTION 14. MOVING AND RELOCATION EXPENSES. 

A.  Employee agrees to establish residence within the corporate boundaries of the City of 

Lake Alfred within six (6) months of commencement of employment, and thereafter to maintain 

residence within the corporate boundaries of the City for all times that this Agreement is in effect. 

 B.  City agrees to reimburse employee up to $3,000.00 for the expenses related to moving 

Employee and his family and personal property one time from Auburndale, Florida to the City upon 

presentation of receipts and proof of expenditures relating to such move. 

SECTION 15. BONDING. 

 The City shall bear full cost of any fidelity or other bonds required of Employee as a condition of 

employment as City Manager or as required by the State of Florida. 

SECTION 16. OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT. 

 The City Commission and Employee may mutually agree to modify, amend or fix such other 

terms and conditions of employment as may be determined, from time to time, to be necessary or 

appropriate, provided that such terms and conditions are not inconsistent with or in conflict with the 

provisions of the Agreement, Charter or any other law.  Further, all provisions of the Code of 

Ordinances, Chapter 2, Article IV, Division 2 relating to the City Manager will be followed by City and 

Employee. 

Comment [RL10]: Slight uptick in the tech 
allowance. 
 
Budget Impact of $650. 



 Page 11 of 15 

SECTION 17. NO REDUCTION IN BENEFITS. 

 Employer shall not at any time during this Agreement reduce the salary, compensation or other 

financial benefits of Employee, except in the event the reduction is the result of an across-the-board 

reduction for all employees of the City. 

SECTION 18. CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF AGREEMENT. 

 The text herein shall constitute the entire Agreement between the parties.  This Agreement shall 

be binding upon and inures to the benefit of the heirs at law and personal representatives of Employee.  

This Agreement shall become effective upon execution thereof by the City and Employee and approval 

by the City’s governing body.  If any provisions, or any portion thereof, contained in this Agreement are 

held to be unconstitutional, invalid, or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement or portion thereof 

shall be deemed severable and shall not be affected and shall remain in full force and effect. The 

Employee shall have the right to administratively construct and interpret the provisions of this 

Agreement in their application so long as the context does not clearly require otherwise. Any conflict 

with the interpretation or application of the provisions within this Agreement, or matters not specifically 

addressed within this Agreement shall be resolved in good faith with the Employee. With the exception 

of severance pay, the compensation and benefits provided for in this Agreement may be received or 

acted upon by the Employee without further action by the City Commission. 

 

SECTION 19. MISCELLANEOUS. 

A. This Agreement shall be construed and regulated under and by the laws of the State of Florida.  

Venue for any legal action arising hereunder shall be exclusively in the State Courts in and for 

Polk County, Florida.   



 Page 12 of 15 

B. Any number of counterparts of this Agreement may be signed and delivered, each of which shall 

be considered an original and all of which, together, shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. 

C. The Employee shall be considered a “key employee” and shall receive at least the same benefits 

and supplemental compensation as other key employees or administrative personnel (e.g. 

Department Heads). (SUPPLEMENTAL REQUEST #4) In addition, the Employee’s base 

starting salary shall be at least fifty percent (50%) greater than the average base starting salary of 

his three highest compensated direct reports and fifteen (15%) greater than the starting base 

salary of any other employee of the City. In the event that any of the foregoing conditions are not 

met the Employee’s base salary and benefits shall automatically be provisionally increased until 

the foregoing conditions are minimally satisfied and the changes shall be included in the 

subsequent budget cycle for consideration. Pursuant to section 17 of this agreement, any increase 

in compensation or benefits under this provision shall vest with the Employee (with future 

increases being applied to this amount) notwithstanding any future calculations of the foregoing 

criteria that may otherwise indicate a reduction. 

D. Any allowance, reimbursement, or benefit with the exception of salary or payment of accrued 

leave specified within this Agreement shall be construed as the net post tax benefit to the 

Employee. For administration of this provision, the City shall assume the Employee is 

responsible for a thirty percent (30%) tax burden on any of the foregoing that is not provided as a 

pretax payroll contribution and a fifteen percent (15%) tax burden on any Employee elected post-

tax contribution that would not otherwise be taxable but for the election. In addition, following 

the commencement of employment any allowance specified within this Agreement shall be 

Comment [RL11]: Would not result in an 
increase. My current base starting salary is 2% over 
the 50% standard.  
 
The 50% standard already exists within the 
organization between Department Heads and 
Superintendents, and the City Manager and the 
Department Heads. This would just formalize the 
standard within the agreement and would be useful 
to me as a legacy provision in promoting this 
standard in the FCCMA if it were contained in an 
active agreement. 
 
The Public Works Director position is 59.57% more 
than the Superintendent position (and has 2 direct 
reports). The Police Chief position is 50.53% higher 
than the Police Sergeant position (2 direct reports 
including the Lt.). The Fire Chief position is 50.53% 
higher than the Fire Captain position (3 direct 
reports). The City Manager position is 52.13% more 
than the top grade Department Head position (7 
direct reports). 
 
No Budget Impact. 



 Page 13 of 15 

adjusted annually at the greater of three percent (3%) or the average annual change in the 

Consumer Price Index (CPI). 

E. “Base Starting Salary” shall mean the annual salary of a position including cost of living 

adjustments (COLAs) but excluding any other increases or amounts (e.g. step increases, 

incentive/assignment pay, longevity, holiday pay, etc.). The hourly rate shall be the amount of 

base starting salary divided by two-thousand and eighty (2080). In the event a position lacks an 

identifiable base starting salary with systemic and programmed increases to a minimum salary or 

range, the current “base salary” for such a position shall be construed as the de facto “starting 

base salary” for the purposes of its application and use within this Agreement.   

F.  “Base Salary” shall mean the full annual salary of a position including COLAs and step 

adjustments for the given year represented in Section 1 of this Agreement but excluding any 

other increases or amounts (e.g. incentive pay, longevity, holiday pay, etc.; “Total Salary” would 

include said amounts). The hourly rate shall be the amount of base salary divided by two-

thousand and eighty (2080). 

G. “Compensation” shall mean the full salary, wages, and other monetary benefits received by the 

Employee from the City on an annual basis that is generally reported on the Employee’s W-2 

form plus all tax deferred, tax sheltered, or tax exempt items of income. The hourly rate shall be 

the amount of compensation divided by two-thousand and eighty (2080). 

H. “Total Compensation” shall mean the full annual monetary value of all salary, compensation, 

and benefits that the Employee receives and is provided for, or is eligible to receive from this 

Agreement and his employment with the City. The hourly rate shall be the amount of total 

compensation divided by two-thousand and eighty (2080). 



 Page 14 of 15 

I. Pursuant to F.S. 215.425 any changes in the calculation, method, or the amount of compensation 

shall be applied following approval of the updated Agreement but shall not result in retroactive 

or additional compensation for services already rendered. 

 

(The rest of this page left intentionally blank.) 



 Page 15 of 15 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Lake Alfred, Florida has caused this Agreement to be 

signed and executed in its behalf by its Mayor and duly attested by its City Clerk, and the Employee has 

signed and executed this Agreement, this 9th day of September, 2015. 

  
___________________________________            _________________________________ 
Charles O. Lake, Mayor              Ryan Leavengood 
City of Lake Alfred, Florida             Employee 
  
  
ATTEST: 
  
 
___________________________________ 
Ameé Bailey-Speck, City Clerk 
  
       
  
Approved As To Form: 
  
 
___________________________________ 
Frederick J. Murphy, Jr., City Attorney 
 







ICMA contact:
Martha Perego
ICMA Director of Ethics 
Membership Team Leader
202.962.3668
mperego@icma.org

Model

Employment
 Agreement



ICMA advances professional local government worldwide. Its mission is to create excellence in local 
governance by developing and advancing professional management of local government. ICMA, the 
International City/County Management Association, provides member support; publications, data, and 
information; peer and results-oriented assistance; and training and professional development to more than 
9,000 city, town, and county experts and other individuals and organizations throughout the world. The 
management decisions made by ICMA’s members affect 185 million individuals living in thousands of 
communities, from small villages and towns to large metropolitan areas.

ICMA
777 North Capitol Street, NE
Suite 500
Washington, DC 20002-4201
202-289-ICMA (4262)
icma.org

Copyright ©2013 by the International City/County Management Association. All rights reserved, including 
rights of reproduction and use in any form or by any means, including the making of copies by any 
photographic process, or by any electrical or mechanical device, printed, written, or oral or recording for 
sound or visual reproduction, or for use in any knowledge or retrieval system or device, unless permission 
in writing is obtained from the copyright proprietor.

www.icma.org


ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 i i i

Contents

Introduction                                                                               1

Section 1: Term                                                                            1

Section 2: Duties and Authority                                                           1

Section 3: Compensation                                                                  2

Section 4: Health, Disability and Life Insurance Benefits                                  3

Section 5: Vacation, Sick, and Military Leave                                              3

Section 6: Automobile                                                                     4

Section 7: Retirement                                                                      4

Section 8: General Business Expenses                                                     5

Section 9: Termination                                                                     6

Section 10: Severance                                                                     6

Section 11: Resignation                                                                    7 

Section 12: Performance Evaluation                                                       7

Section 13: Hours of Work                                                                 8

Section 14: Ethical Commitments                                                         8

Section 15: Outside Activities                                                             8

Section 16: Moving and Relocation Expenses                                             8

Section 17: Home Sale and Purchase Expenses                                           9

Section 18: Indemnification                                                               10

Section 19: Bonding                                                                      10

Section 20: Other Terms and Conditions of Employment                                11 

Section 21–22: Notices and General Provisions                                          11

Appendix 1 Separation of Employment and General Release                            13



iv  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 1

Introduction
This Agreement, made and entered into this  [date], by 
and between the [local government] of [state], [town/
city/county] a municipal corporation, (hereinafter 
called ”Employer”) and [name], (hereinafter called 
“Employee”) an individual who has the education, train-

ing and experience in local government management 
and who, as a member of the International City/County 
Management Association (ICMA), is subject to the 
ICMA Code of Ethics, both of whom agree as follows:

Section 1: Term
Recommended Language
A. This agreement shall remain in full force and 
effect from [date] until terminated by the Employer 
or Employee as provided in Section 9, 10 or 11 of this 
agreement.

Option 1
The term of this agreement shall be for an initial 
period of [#] years from [date] to [date].  This Agree-
ment shall automatically be renewed on its anniver-
sary date for a [#] year term unless notice that the 
Agreement shall terminate is given at least [#] months 

(12 months recommended) before the expiration date.  
In the event the agreement is not renewed, all com-
pensation, benefits and requirements of the agreement 
shall remain in effect until the expiration of the term 
of the Agreement unless Employee voluntarily resigns. 

In the event that the Employee is terminated, as 
defined in Section 9 of this agreement, the Employee 
shall be entitled to all compensation including sal-
ary, accrued vacation and sick leave, car allowance 
paid in lump sum or in a continuation of salary on 
the existing [biweekly/monthly] basis, at the Employ-
ee’s option, plus continuation of all benefits for the 
remainder of the term of this agreement. 

Section 2: Duties and Authority
Recommended Language
A. Employer agrees to employ [name] as [title] to 
perform the functions and duties specified in [legal 
reference] of the [local government] charter and/or by  
ordinance (#) dated [legal reference] of the [local govern-
ment] code and to perform other legally permissible and 
proper duties and functions without interference.  

B. Employee is the chief executive officer of the 
Employer and shall faithfully perform the duties as 
prescribed in the job description as set forth in the 
Employer’s charter and/or ordinances and as may be 
lawfully assigned by the Employer and shall comply 
with all lawful governing body directives, state and 
federal law, Employer policies, rules and ordinances as 
they exist or may hereafter be amended.

C.  Specifically, it shall be the duty of the Employee to 
employ on behalf of the Employer all other employees 
of the organization consistent with the policies of the 
governing body and the ordinances and charter of the 
Employer. 

D. It shall also be the duty of the Employee to direct, 
assign, reassign and evaluate all of the employees of 
the Employer consistent with policies, ordinances, 
charter, state and federal law.  

E. It shall also be the duty of the Employee to orga-
nize, reorganize and arrange the staff of the Employer 
and to develop and establish internal regulations, rules 
and procedures which the Employee deems neces-
sary for the efficient and effective operation of the 
Employer consistent with the lawful directives, poli-
cies, ordinances, state and federal law. 

F. It shall also be the duty of the Employee to accept 
all resignations of employees of the Employer consis-
tent with the policies, ordinances, state and federal 
law, except the Employee‘s resignation which must be 
accepted by the governing body. 

G. The Employee shall perform the duties of (city, 
county or town) manager of the Employer with rea-
sonable care, diligence, skill and expertise.



2  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

H. All duties assigned to the Employee by the govern-
ing body shall be appropriate to and consistent with the 
professional role and responsibility of the Employee.

I. The Employee cannot be reassigned from the posi-
tion of (city, county or town) manager to another posi-
tion without the Employee’s express written consent. 

J. The Employee or designee shall attend, and shall 
be permitted to attend, all meetings of the governing 

body, both public and closed, with the exception of 
those closed meetings devoted to the subject of this 
Agreement, or any amendment thereto or the Employ-
ee’s evaluation or otherwise consistent with state law. 

K. The governing body, individually and collectively, 
shall refer in a timely manner all substantive criticisms, 
complaints and suggestions called to their attention to 
the Employee for study and/or appropriate action.

Section 3: Compensation
Recommended Language 
A. Base Salary: Employer agrees to pay Employee an 
annual base salary of [$ amount], payable in install-
ments at the same time that the other management 
employees of the Employer are paid.

B. This agreement shall be automatically amended 
to reflect any salary adjustments that are provided or 
required by the Employer’s compensation policies to 
include all salary  adjustments on the same basis as 
applied to the executive classification of employees.  

C. In addition, consideration shall be given on an 
annual basis to an increase in compensation. 

Options for Section 3. C 
Compensation

Option 1
The Employer agrees to increase the compensation of 
the Employee dependent upon the results of the per-
formance evaluation conducted under the provisions 
of Section 12 of this Agreement.  Increased compen-
sation can be in the form of a salary increase and/or 
performance incentive  and/or an increase in benefits. 

Option 2
The Employer agrees to increase the compensation of 
the Employee dependent upon the results of the per-
formance evaluation conducted under the provisions 
of Section 12 of this Agreement in addition to provid-
ing a fixed annual increase in the Employee’s salary 

based on an agreed upon economic indicator, such as 
the Consumer Price Index.   

Option 3
The Employer agrees to increase the compensation by 
[ %] each year. 

Option 4
The Employer agrees to increase the compensation 
each year by at least the average across the board 
increase granted to other employees of the Employer. 

D. At any time during the term of the Agreement, 
Employer may, in its discretion, review and adjust 
the salary of the Employee, but in no event shall the 
Employee be paid less than the salary set forth in Sec-
tion 3.A. of the Agreement except by mutual written 
agreement between Employee and Employer. Such 
adjustments, if any, shall be made pursuant to a law-
ful governing body action. In such event, Employer 
and Employee agree to provide their best efforts and 
reasonable cooperation to execute a new agreement 
incorporating the adjusted salary. 

E. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, 
the Employee shall be entitled, at a minimum,  to the 
highest level of benefits enjoyed by and/or available to 
other employees, department heads or general employ-
ees of the Employer as provided by the Employer’s 
policies,  Charter, ordinances, or personnel rules and 
regulations or other practices.



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 3

Section 4: Health, Disability and Life Insurance Benefits
Recommended Language
A. The Employer agrees to provide and to pay the 
premiums for health, hospitalization, surgical, vision, 
dental and comprehensive medical insurance for the 
Employee and his/her dependents, at a minimum, 
equal to that which is provided to all other employ-
ees of the [local government].   In the event no such 
plan exists, Employer agrees to provide coverage for 
the Employee and dependents in a manner mutually 
agreed upon by Employer and Employee.  

B. The Employer agrees to put into force and to make 
required premium payments for short term and long 
term disability coverage for the Employee. 

C. The Employee may elect to submit once per calen-
dar year to a complete physical examination, including 
a cardio-vascular examination, by a qualified physi-
cian selected by the Employee, the cost of which shall 
be paid by the Employer.   

D. The Employer shall pay the amount of premium 
due for term life insurance in the amount of three (3) 
times the Employee’s annual base salary, including 
all increases in the base salary during the life of this 
agreement.  The Employee shall name the beneficiary 
of the life insurance policy.  

Option 1 
A. The Employer agrees to provide for full health, hos-
pitalization, surgical, vision, dental and comprehensive 
medical insurance for the Employee and his/her depen-
dents on an equivalent basis to that which is provided 
to all other employees of the [local government]. and 
Employer shall pay all premiums for the Employee and 
the Employee’s dependents.  In the event no such plan 
exists, Employer agrees to provide full coverage for the 

Employee and dependents in a manner mutually agreed 
upon by Employer and Employee.  

B. The Employer agrees to put into force and to make 
required premium payments for short term and long 
term disability coverage for the Employee. 

C. The Employee may elect to submit once per calen-
dar year to a complete physical examination, including 
a cardio-vascular examination, by a qualified physi-
cian selected by the Employee, the cost of which shall 
be paid by the Employer.   

D. The Employer shall pay the amount of premium 
due for term life insurance in the face amount of three 
(3) times the Employee’s annual base salary, including 
all increases in the base salary during the life of this 
agreement.  If such coverage is not available through 
the Employer’s insurance carrier or the Employee elects 
to obtain coverage through a different insurance car-
rier, the Employer shall reimburse the Employee for the 
cost of the premiums in an amount equal to the same 
value as that provided by the Employer’s insurance car-
rier. The Employee shall own the life insurance policy 
and the life insurance policy shall be in the name of 
the Employee and the Employee shall have the right to 
name the beneficiary of the life insurance policy. 

Option 2
E. The Employer shall provide business travel insur-
ance for the Employee while the Employee is traveling 
on the Employer’s business, and the Employee shall 
name the beneficiary thereof.  Should the Employee 
die while on travel for the Employer, the Employer 
shall cover the full cost of retrieving and transporting 
the Employee’s remains back to the custody of the 
Employee’s family.  

Section 5: Vacation, Sick, and Military Leave
Recommended Language
A. Upon commencing employment, the Employee 
shall be credited with [ # ] accrued sick leave hours 
and [ # ] accrued vacation leave hours.  In addition, 
beginning the first day of employment, Employee shall 
accrue sick leave and vacation leave on an annual 
basis, at a minimum, at the highest rate provided or 

available to any other employees, under the same 
rules and provisions applicable to other employees. 

Option 1
Beginning the first day of employment, Employee shall 
accrue sick leave and vacation leave on an annual 
basis equivalent to the number of years served in the 
profession. 

rleavengood
Highlight

rleavengood
Highlight

rleavengood
Highlight

rleavengood
Highlight



4  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

B. Upon commencing employment, the Employee shall 
have access to a bank of 180 sick days to be used in the 
case of serious medical conditions. This leave can only 
be used to provide coverage during the waiting period 
between the onset of illness or disability and the point at 
which short or long term disability coverage takes effect 
and may be renewed after each occurrence.  

C. The Employee is entitled to accrue all unused 
leave, without limit, and in the event the Employee’s 
employment is terminated, either voluntarily or 

involuntarily, the Employee shall be compensated for 
all accrued vacation time, all paid holidays, executive 
leave, and other benefits to date.  

D. The Employee shall be entitled to military reserve 
leave time pursuant to state law and [local govern-
ment] policy.

Option 2
E. The Employee shall annually be credited with five 
(5) days of executive leave. 

Section 6: Automobile
Recommended Language
The Employee’s duties require exclusive and unre-
stricted use of an automobile to be mutually agreed 
upon and provided to the Employee at the Employer’s 
cost, subject to approval by Employer which shall not 
be withheld without good cause. It shall be mutu-
ally agreed upon whether the vehicle is purchased by 
the Employer, provided under lease to the Employer 
or to the Employee, or provided through a monthly 
allowance.  

Option 1—Monthly Vehicle 
Allowance 
The Employer agrees to pay to the Employee, during 
the term of this Agreement and in addition to other 
salary and benefits herein provided, the sum of [dol-
lar amount] per year, payable monthly, as a vehicle 
allowance to be used to purchase, lease, or own, oper-
ate and maintain a vehicle. The monthly allowance 
shall be increased annually by [% or $] amount. The 

Employee shall be responsible for paying for liability, 
property damage, and comprehensive insurance cover-
age upon such vehicle and shall further be responsible 
for all expenses attendant to the purchase, operation, 
maintenance, repair, and regular replacement of said 
vehicle. The Employer shall reimburse the Employee 
at the IRS standard mileage rate for any business use 
of the vehicle beyond the greater [local government] 
area.  For purposes of this Section, use of the car 
within the greater [local government] area is defined 
as travel to locations within a _____ mile (recom-
mended one hundred (100) mile) radius of the local 
government limits.)  

Option 2—Employer Provided 
Vehicle 
The Employer shall be responsible for paying for liability, 
property damage, and comprehensive insurance, and for 
the purchase (or lease), operation, maintenance, repair, 
and regular replacement of a full-size automobile. 

Section 7: Retirement
Recommended Language
The Employer agrees to enroll the Employee into the 
applicable state or local retirement system and to 
make all the appropriate contributions on the Employ-
ee’s behalf.  

In addition to the Employer’s payment to the state or 
local retirement system (as applicable) referenced above, 
Employer agrees to execute and keep in force all neces-

sary agreements provided by ICMA Retirement Corpo-
ration [ICMA-RC] or any other  Section 457 deferred 
compensation plan for Employee’s [continued] participa-
tion in said supplementary retirement plan. In addition 
to the base salary paid by the Employer to Employee, 
Employer agrees to pay an amount equal to [percentage 
of Employee’s base salary, fixed  dollar amount of [ $ ] 
, or maximum dollar amount permissible under Federal 
and state law into the designated plan on the Employee’s 

rleavengood
Highlight

rleavengood
Highlight



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 5

behalf, in equal proportionate amount each pay period. 
The Employer and Employee shall fully disclose to each 
other the financial impact of any amendment to the 
terms of Employee’s retirement benefit.  

In lieu of making a contribution to a Section 457 
deferred compensation plan, the dollar value of this 
contribution may be used, at the Employee’s option, to 
purchase previous service from another qualified plan. 

Option 1
Recognizing that effective service with the community 
is based in part on the stability provided through a 
long-term relationship, the Employer shall provide a 
retirement annuity, as directed by the Employee, at a 
rate of [dollar amount], payable at the completion of 
each quarter of the fiscal year.  This annuity serves as 
a retirement contribution and does not require further 
action of the Employer.

Option 2
The Employer shall adopt a qualified 401(a) defined con-
tribution plan offered through ICMA Retirement Corpora-
tion for the Employee in the form of a money purchase 
plan to which the Employer shall contribute [%] of com-

pensation annually. The  401(a) plan shall be established 
as an employer paid plan with non-discretionary contri-
butions by the Employer and the Employee shall have no 
right to receive such contributions in cash. The 401(a) 
plan shall be established under a written plan document 
that meets the requirements of the IRS Code and such 
document is hereby incorporated herein by reference. 
The funds for the 401(a) plan shall be invested in such 
investment vehicles as are allowable under the IRS Code 
and the Employee shall make the sole determination as 
to how the funds are invested.   

Option 2 A: The Employee shall be required to con-
tribute [ % ] of base salary or [dollar amount] annu-
ally on a pre-tax basis as a condition of participation.

Option3
The Employer shall adopt a qualified 401(a) profit-
sharing plan offered through ICMA Retirement Cor-
poration for the Employee in the form of a money 
purchase plan to which the Employer shall contribute 
[% ] of all performance bonuses annually.  

Option 3 A: The Employee shall be required to con-
tribute [ % ] of base salary or  [dollar amount] annu-
ally on a pre-tax basis as a condition of participation.

Section 8: General Business Expenses
Recommended Language
A. Employer agrees to budget and pay for professional 
dues, including but not limited to the International City/
County Management Association, and subscriptions of 
the Employee necessary for continuation and full par-
ticipation in national, regional, state, and local associa-
tions, and organizations necessary and desirable for the 
Employee’s continued professional participation, growth, 
and advancement, and for the good of the Employer.

B. Employer agrees to budget and pay for travel 
and subsistence expenses of Employee for profes-
sional and official travel, meetings, and occasions to 
adequately continue the professional development of 
Employee and to pursue necessary official functions 
for Employer, including but not limited to the ICMA 
Annual Conference, the state league of municipalities, 
and such other national, regional, state, and local gov-
ernmental groups and committees in which Employee 
serves as a member.

C. Employer also agrees to budget and pay for travel 
and subsistence expenses of Employee for short 
courses, institutes, and seminars that are necessary for 
the Employee’s professional development and for the 
good of the Employer. 

D. Employer recognizes that certain expenses of a 
non-personal but job related nature are incurred by 
Employee, and agrees to reimburse or to pay said gen-
eral expenses.  Such expenses may include meals where 
Employer business is being discussed or conducted and 
participation in social events of various organizations 
when representing the Employer. Such expenditures are 
subject to annual budget constraints as well as state 
and Employer ethics and purchasing policies.  The 
finance director is authorized to disburse such moneys 
upon receipt of duly executed expense or petty cash 
vouchers, receipts, statements or personal affidavits.

E. The Employer acknowledges the value of having 
Employee participate and be directly involved in local 
civic clubs or organizations.  Accordingly, Employer 



6  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

shall pay for the reasonable membership fees and/
or dues to enable the Employee to become an active 
member in local civic clubs or organizations.  

F.  Recognizing the importance of constant communi-
cation and maximum productivity, Employer shall pro-
vide Employee, for business and personal use, a laptop 
computer, software, internet connection at Employee’s 
permanent residence,  mobile phone/personal digital 
assistant and/or tablet computer for business and 

personal use, and pager for business and personal use 
required for the Employee to perform their duties and 
to maintain communication with Employer’s staff and 
officials as well as other individuals who are doing 
business with Employer. Upon termination of Employ-
ee’s employment, the equipment described herein 
shall become the property of the Employee and at the 
discretion of the Employee any mobile phone number 
shall be transferred to the Employee. 

Section 9: Termination 
Recommended Language
A. For the purpose of this agreement, termination shall 
occur when: 

1. The majority of the governing body votes to termi-
nate the Employee in accordance with (cite applicable 
local law) at a properly posted and duly authorized 
public meeting.  

2. If the Employer, citizens or legislature acts to amend 
any provisions of the [charter, code, enabling legisla-
tion] pertaining to the role, powers, duties, author-
ity, responsibilities of the Employee’s position that 
substantially changes the form of government, the 
Employee shall have the right to declare that such 
amendments constitute termination. 

3. If the Employer reduces the base salary, compensa-
tion or any other financial benefit of the Employee, 
unless it is applied in no greater percentage than the 
average reduction of all department heads, such action 
shall constitute a breach of this agreement and will be 
regarded as a termination.  

4. If the Employee resigns following an offer to 
accept resignation, whether formal or informal, by 
the Employer as representative of the majority of the 
governing body that the Employee resign, then the 
Employee may declare a termination as of the date of 
the suggestion.  

5. Breach of contract declared by either party with a 
30 day cure period for either Employee or Employer.  
Written notice of a breach of contract shall be pro-
vided in accordance with the provisions of Section 20. 

Option 1
A. In the event the Employee is terminated by the 
Employer during the six (6) months immediately fol-
lowing the seating and swearing-in of one or more 
new governing body members, and during such time 
that Employee is willing and able to perform his duties 
under this Agreement, then, Employer agrees to pay 
Severance in accordance with Section 10 plus salary 
and benefits in accordance with Section 10 for any 
portion of the six months not worked.  

Section 10: Severance
Severance shall be paid to the Employee when 
employment is terminated as defined in Section 9.  

A. If the Employee is terminated, the Employer shall 
provide a minimum severance payment equal to 
twelve (12) months salary at the then current rate of 
pay. This severance shall be paid in a lump sum or 
in a continuation of salary on the existing [biweekly/
monthly] basis, at the Employee’s option, 

B. The Employee shall also be compensated for all 
sick leave, vacation leave, and all paid holidays.  

The Employer agrees to make a contribution to the 
Employee’s deferred compensation account on the 
value of this compensation calculated using the 
then current annual salary of Employee at the date 
of termination divided by two thousand and eighty 
(2080) hours. If the amount of the contribution under 
this Section exceeds the limit under the Code for a 
contribution to the Deferred Compensation plan, the 
remainder shall be paid to the Employee in a lump 
sum as taxable compensation. 



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 7

C. For a minimum period of one year following termi-
nation, the Employer shall pay the cost to continue the 
following benefits: 

1. Health insurance for the employee and all depen-
dents as provided in Section 4A, after which time, 
Employee will be provided access to health insurance 
pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Recon-
ciliation Act (“COBRA”). 

2. Life insurance as provided in Section 4D 

3. Short-term and long-term disability as provided in 
Section 4B

4. Car allowance or payment of lease, or provide 
option to buy Employer’s vehicle at depreciated value  

5. Out placement services should the employee desire 

them in an amount not to exceed [$10,000 to $15,000 
recommended], and  

6. Any other available benefits.

D. If the Employee is terminated because of a felony 
conviction, then the Employer is not obligated to pay 
severance under this section.  

E. The termination and severance of Employee shall 
be in accordance with the “Separation Agreement” 
agreed to by Employer and Employee. A template for 
such agreement is provided by ICMA, and is incorpo-
rated herein by reference.

*Provisions for severance and severance related ben-
efits may be governed by state and/or local law. Before 
entering into negotiations, both parties should be 
knowledgeable about relevant legal provisions. 

Section 11: Resignation
In the event that the Employee voluntarily resigns his/
her position with the Employer, the Employee shall 

provide a minimum of 30 days notice unless Employer 
and Employee agree otherwise.

Section 12: Performance Evaluation
A. Employer shall annually review the performance of 
the Employee in [month] subject to a process, form, 
criteria, and format for the evaluation which shall be 
mutually agreed upon by the Employer and Employee. 

The annual evaluation process, at a minimum, shall 
include the opportunity for both parties to:  (1) 
conduct a formulary session where the governing 
body and the Employee meet first to discuss goals 
and objectives of both the past twelve (12) month 
performance period as well as the upcoming twelve 
(12) month performance period, (2) following that 
formulary discussion, prepare a written evaluation of 
goals and objectives for the past and upcoming year, 
(3) next  meet and discuss the written evaluation of 
these goals and objectives, and (4) present a written 
summary of the evaluation results to the Employee.  
The final written evaluation should be completed and 
delivered to the Employee within 30 days of the initial 
formulary evaluation meeting.

B. Unless the Employee expressly requests otherwise 
in writing, the evaluation of the Employee shall at all 
times be conducted in executive session of the govern-
ing body and shall be considered confidential to the 
extent permitted by law.  Nothing herein shall prohibit 
the Employer or Employee from sharing the content of 
the Employee’s evaluation with their respective legal 
counsel. 

C. In the event the Employer deems the evaluation 
instrument, format and/or procedure is to be modified 
by the Employer and such modifications would require 
new or different performance expectations, then the 
Employee shall be provided a reasonable period of 
time to demonstrate such expected performance before 
being evaluated. 

D. In the event the Employee is an ICMA Credentialed 
Manager, the multi-rater evaluation tool will be uti-
lized at a minimum of every five years.  



8  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

Section 13: Hours of Work
It is recognized that the Employee must devote a great 
deal of time outside the normal office hours on busi-
ness for the Employer, and to that end Employee shall 
be allowed to establish an appropriate work schedule. 

The schedule shall be appropriate to the needs of the 
Employer and shall allow Employee to faithfully per-
form his or her assigned duties and responsibilities. 

Section 14: Ethical Commitments
Employee will at all times uphold the tenets of the 
ICMA Code of Ethics, a copy of which is attached 
hereto and incorporated herein. Specifically, Employee 
shall not endorse candidates, make financial contribu-
tions, sign or circulate petitions, or participate in fund-
raising activities for individuals seeking or holding 
elected office, nor seek or accept any personal enrich-
ment or profit derived from confidential information 
or misuse of public time. 

Employer shall support Employee in keeping these 

commitments by refraining from any order, direction 
or request that would require Employee to violate the 
ICMA Code of Ethics. Specifically, neither the govern-
ing body nor any individual member thereof shall 
request Employee to endorse any candidate, make any 
financial contribution, sign or circulate any petition, 
or participate in any fund-raising activity for individu-
als seeking or holding elected office, nor to handle 
any matter of personnel on a basis other than fairness, 
impartiality and merit.

Section 15: Outside Activities
The employment provided for by this Agreement shall 
be the Employee’s primary employment.  Recognizing 
that certain outside consulting or teaching opportuni-
ties provide indirect benefits to the Employer and the 
community, the Employee may elect to accept limited 

teaching, consulting or other business opportunities 
with the understanding that such arrangements must 
neither constitute interference with nor a conflict of 
interest with his or her responsibilities under this 
Agreement.  

Section 16: Moving and Relocation Expenses
Recommended Language
Employee agrees to establish residence within the cor-
porate boundaries of the local government, if required, 
within [number] months of employment, and thereaf-
ter to maintain residence within the corporate bound-
aries of the local government. 

A. Employer shall pay directly for the expenses of 
moving Employee and his/her family and personal 
property from [location name] to [location name].  
Said moving expenses include packing, moving, 
storage costs, unpacking, and insurance charges. 
The Employee shall provide evidence of actual mov-
ing expenses by securing quotations from three (3) 
companies. The Employee shall submit these quotes to 
the Employer who, in consultation with the Employee, 
shall select the moving company. 

B. Employer shall reimburse Employee for actual lodging 
and meal expenses for his/her family in route from [loca-
tion name] to [location name]. Mileage costs for moving 
two personal automobiles shall be reimbursed at the cur-
rent IRS allowable rate of [cents amount] per mile.

C. Employer shall pay Employee an interim housing 
supplement of [dollar amount] per month for a period 
commencing [date], and shall continue for a maxi-
mum of [# ] months, or until a home is purchased 
and closed on, within the corporate limits of the [local 
government name], whichever event occurs first. 

D. Employer shall reimburse Employee for a total of 
[number] round trip air fares for Employee and his/
her family [amount of total tickets] at any time during 
the first year of service to assist with house hunting and 
other facets of the transition and relocation process.  The 



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 9

Employee and his/her family may utilize and distribute 
the total [enter number] individual round trip tickets 
in any combination of individual members making the 
trips.  The Employee shall be reimbursed for actual lodg-
ing and meal expenses incurred by Employee or his/her 
family members on any trips conducted prior to reloca-
tion, as detailed herein.

E. The Employee shall be reimbursed, or Employer 
may pay directly, for the expenses of packing and 
moving from temporary housing to permanent hous-

ing during the first year of this agreement. The cost of 
this move shall not exceed (dollar amount). 

F. The Employer shall pay the Employee’s tax liability 
on all Employer provided benefits for relocation and 
housing. 

Option 1 
The Employer shall pay a lump sum payment of [$] to 
the Employee to cover relocation costs.  

Section 17: Home Sale and Purchase Expenses
Recommended Language 
A. Employee shall be reimbursed for the direct costs 
associated with the sale of Employee’s existing per-
sonal residence, said reimbursement being limited to 
real estate agents’ fees, and other closing costs that 
are directly associated with the sale of the house.  Said 
reimbursement should not exceed the sum of [$ ].

B. Employee shall be reimbursed for the costs inciden-
tal to buying or building a primary residence within 
the [local government], including real estate fees, title 
insurance, and other costs directly associated with the 
purchase or construction of the house, said reimburse-
ment not to exceed the sum of  [$].

Option 1
Employer shall reimburse Employee for up to three 
discount points within thirty (30) days following pur-
chase of a home within the corporate limits of [local 
government name], in an effort to minimize mortgage 
rate differentials.

Option 2
Employer shall provide Employee with a _________ 
[fixed-interest, variable-interest, interest-only] loan 
to purchase a house.  The amount of the loan shall 
not exceed  $________.  The loan shall be repaid in 
full to the Employer upon the occurrence of either of 
the following events: (i) the home, or the Employee’s 
interest in the home, is sold, transferred, or conveyed, 
or (ii) the Employee’s employment with the Employer, 
for any reason, is terminated.  The Employer and 
Employee shall execute any and all documents neces-
sary to document this transaction.

Option 3
Employer agrees to provide the Employee a loan for the 
purchase of a home in an amount not to exceed [dollar 
amount].  Employee shall pay Employer a monthly mort-
gage payment of [dollar amount] for interest, which is 
equal to the amount currently being paid in principle and 
interest for the current residence. Employee shall accrue 
equity at a rate of [% ] per month. 

Upon termination of employment with the Employer, 
Employee shall have a maximum of six months to 
sell the home while continuing to reside in it under 
the terms and conditions here. Should the home 
sell during the time period, Employer shall receive 
100% of the proceeds minus the percentage of equity 
accrued by Employee as described above, and minus 
the amount of equity originally invested by Employee. 
Said accrued equity and original equity shall both 
be payable to Employee upon closing.  Said original 
equity invested shall be calculated as an amount equal 
to the percentage of original purchase price, repre-
sented by the original equity investment by Employee, 
and adjusted to be the same percentage of equity in 
the current sale price of the home. All closing costs 
borne by the seller shall be split between Employer 
and Employee in a proportion equal to the equity 
share described above.  Should the house fail to sell 
within the allotted six month time period, Employer 
has the option of allowing the previous arrangement 
to continue in place or to purchase equity, calcu-
lated as provided above, plus the original cost of all 
improvements made to the property.  



10  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

Option 4
A. Employer shall provide a residence for Employee 
at no cost to Employee other than the monthly cost of 
all utilities and services.  Should Employee choose to 
not accept the housing no additional housing incentive 
shall be provided to Employee.  

B. Upon separation, voluntary or involuntary, 
Employee shall vacate the residence with six (6) 
months of date of separation.

Option 5 
Employee shall place their current residence on the mar-
ket and make every reasonable attempt to sell residence.  
If after six (6) months, Employee has not sold or agreed 
to sell their residence the Employer shall purchase the 
residence from Employee at ninety percent (90%) of 
current list price or appraised value whichever is less.  
Employer shall then place the residence on the market 
with all proceeds of any sale to Employer.

Section 18: Indemnification
Beyond that required under Federal, State or Local 
Law, Employer shall defend, save harmless and 
indemnify Employee against any obligation to pay 
money or perform or no perform action, including 
without limitation, any and all losses, damages, judg-
ments, interests, settlements, penalties, fines, court 
costs and other reasonable costs and expenses of legal 
proceedings including attorneys fees, and any other 
liabilities arising from, related to, or connected with 
any tort, professional liability claim or demand or any 
other threatened, pending or completed action, suit 
or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, 
arbitrative or investigation,  whether groundless or 
otherwise, arising out of an alleged act or omission 
occurring in the performance of Employee’s duties as 
[job title] or resulting from the exercise of judgment 
or discretion in connection with the performance of 
program duties or responsibilities, unless the act or 
omission involved willful or wanton conduct.  The 
Employee may request and the Employer shall not 
unreasonably refuse to provide independent legal rep-
resentation at Employer’s expense and Employer may 
not unreasonably withhold approval. Legal representa-
tion, provided by Employer for Employee, shall extend 
until a final determination of the legal action including 
any appeals brought by either party.  The Employer 
shall indemnify Employee against any and all losses, 

damages, judgments, interest, settlements, penal-
ties, fines, court costs and other reasonable costs and 
expenses of legal proceedings including attorneys fees, 
and any other liabilities incurred by, imposed upon, 
or suffered by such Employee in connection with or 
resulting from any claim, action, suit, or proceeding, 
actual or threatened, arising out of or in connection 
with the performance of his or her duties.  Any settle-
ment of any claim must be made with prior approval 
of the Employer in order for indemnification, as pro-
vided in this Section, to be available. 

Employee recognizes that Employer shall have the 
right to compromise and unless the Employee is a 
party to the suit which Employee shall have a veto 
authority over the settlement, settle any claim or suit; 
unless, said compromise or settlement is of a per-
sonal nature to Employee.  Further, Employer agrees 
to pay all reasonable litigation expenses of Employee 
throughout the pendency of any litigation to which 
the Employee is a party, witness or advisor to the 
Employer.  Such expense payments shall continue 
beyond Employee’s service to the Employer as long 
as litigation is pending.  Further, Employer agrees to 
pay Employee reasonable consulting fees and travel 
expenses when Employee serves as a witness, advisor 
or consultant to Employer regarding pending litigation.

Section 19: Bonding
Employer shall bear the full cost of any fidelity or 
other bonds required of the Employee under any law 
or ordinance.



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 11

Section 20: Other Terms and Conditions of 
Employment
A. The Employer, only upon agreement with 
Employee, shall fix any such other terms and condi-
tions of employment, as it may determine from time to 
time, relating to the performance of the Employee, pro-
vided such terms and conditions are not inconsistent 
with or in conflict with the provisions of this Agree-
ment, the [local government] Charter, local ordinances 
or any other law.

B. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the 
Employee shall be entitled, at a minimum, to the highest 
level of benefits that are enjoyed by or offered to other 
[appointed officials, appointed employees, department 

heads or general employees] of the Employer as provided 
in the Charter, Code, Personnel Rules and Regulations or 
by practice.

Option 1—Appropriation
The Employer has appropriated, set aside and encum-
bered, and does hereby appropriate, set aside, and 
encumber, available and unappropriated funds of the 
municipality in an amount sufficient to fund and pay 
all financial obligations of the Employer pursuant to 
this Agreement, including but not limited to, the Sev-
erance and other benefits set forth in Section10. 

Section 21: Notices
Notice pursuant to this Agreement shall be given by 
depositing in the custody of the United States Postal 
Service, postage prepaid, and addressed as follows:

 (a) EMPLOYER: City of (             )
   address
   city,state,zip

 (b) EMPLOYEE: name
   address
   city, state zip

Notice shall be deemed given as of the date of per-
sonal service or as the date of deposit of such writ-
ten notice in the course of transmission in the United 
States Postal Service.



12  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

Section 22: General Provisions
A. Integration. This Agreement sets forth and estab-
lishes the entire understanding between the Employer 
and the Employee relating to the employment of the 
Employee by the Employer.  Any prior discussions 
or representations by or between the Employer and 
Employee are merged into and rendered null and void 
by this Agreement.  The Employer and Employee by 
mutual written agreement may amend any provision 
of this agreement during the life of the agreement. 
Such amendments shall be incorporated and made a 
part of this agreement. 

B. Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding 
on the Employer and the Employee as well as their 
heirs, assigns, executors, personal representatives and 
successors in interest.

C. Effective Date. This Agreement shall become 
effective on ______, _______.

D. Severability. The invalidity or partial invalidity 
of any portion of this Agreement will not affect the 
validity of any other provision.  In the event that any 
provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, the 
remaining provisions shall be deemed to be in full 
force and effect as if they have been executed by both 

Employer and Employee subsequent to the expunge-
ment or judicial modification of the invalid provision.

E. Precedence. In the event of any conflict between 
the terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement 
and the provisions of Council’s policies, or Employer’s 
ordinance or Employer’s rules and regulations, or any 
permissive state or federal law, then, unless otherwise 
prohibited by law, the terms of this Agreement shall 
take precedence over contrary provisions of Council’s 
policies, or Employer’s ordinances, or Employer’s rules 
and regulations or any such permissive law during the 
term of this Agreement. 

 Name of Employer 

 By: ________________________________________
 Governing Body Representative

Executed this the (number) day of (month), (year).

 Employee

 Signature: __________________________________

Executed this the (number) day of (month),(year).



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 13

Appendix 1
SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Separation of Employment and General 
Release Agreement (“Agreement”) is made by and 
between the [local government]  (“Employer”) and 
___________________ (“Employee”).

WHEREAS, Employer has employed Employee as its 
_______________________; however, the parties wish 
to enter into a voluntary agreement to terminate their 
employment relationship and to resolve any actual or 
potential claims that either party may have against the 
other by reason of Employee’s employment or termi-
nation thereof. 

WHEREAS, The parties desire to set forth the terms 
and conditions governing Employee’s separation of 
employment and to provide for the settlement and 
release of any and all disputes or controversies that 
have arisen, or which may hereafter arise, between 
Employer and Employee, including without limitation, 
any and all claims arising out of or in any way related 
to Employee’s employment with or separation from 
the Employer. 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual 
covenants herein contained and the mutual benefits to 
be derived therefrom, the sufficiency of which consid-
eration is hereby acknowledged by the undersigned, 
Employer and Employee agree and state:

1. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. Upon 
their mutual agreement, Employee’s employment 
__________________ shall terminate on __________, 
20__, which shall be Employee’s final date of 
employment.

2. NO ADMISSION OF LIABILITY. This Agreement 
is not an admission by Employee or Employer of any 
wrongful conduct whatsoever. Both parties deny and 
disclaim any liability to or wrongful conduct against 
the other or any third party.

3. PAYMENT AND BENEFITS. Employee shall 
receive his/her regular paycheck for the pay period 
ending __________, 20__ on or before ________, 20__. 
Employee shall receive on or before ________, 20__ an 
additional payment to compensate for his accumulated 
leaves (vacation and floating holidays) and comp time, 
subject to customary payroll deductions.

As consideration for this Agreement and the release 
contained within, and in full and complete satisfaction 

of all obligations due and owing Employee, Employer 
shall:

a. Pay Employee an amount equal to _______ (__) 
months of his current salary, subject to customary 
payroll deductions—to include Employee’s portion 
of health, dental and vision insurance premiums for 
_______ (__) months.

b. Continue, and pay for, Employer’s current health, 
dental and vision insurance coverages for _______ (__) 
months, ending on _____________, 20__.  

[C. INCLUDE ANY OTHER CONSIDERATION, SUCH 
AS AGREEING NOT TO CONTEST UNEMPLOYMENT, 
ALLOWING THE EMPLOYEE TO PURCHASE HIS 
WORK LAPTOP, ETC.]

3. SURRENDER AND VACATION OF EMPLOYER’s 
PROPERTY. Upon execution of this Agreement, 
Employee shall deliver all Employer’s property in his/her 
possession and further, shall vacate Employer’s property. 

4. RELEASE AND WAIVER OF CLAIMS. In con-
sideration of the benefits to be provided to Employee 
pursuant to this Agreement, Employee—including his 
heirs and assigns—hereby irrevocably and uncondi-
tionally releases, acquits and discharges Employer and 
each of its past, present and future elected officials, 
department heads, officers, employees, agents, rep-
resentatives and attorneys from any and all charges, 
complaints, claims, liabilities, obligations, promises, 
agreements, controversies, damages, actions, causes of 
action, suits, rights, demands, costs, losses, debts and 
expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs actually 
incurred), of any nature whatsoever, whether known 
or unknown, arising out of any act, omission, or event 
from the beginning of time up to the execution of this 
Agreement. Employee specifically acknowledges and 
agrees that he is releasing and giving up any right that 
he may now have under federal or state law or politi-
cal subdivision thereof and any claims that he may 
now have or could have asserted against Employer. 

Employee specifically agrees to release all claims that 
against Employer under many different laws, including 
but not limited to: the Age Discrimination in Employ-
ment Act, the Older Workers Benefit Protection 
Act, and Executive Order 11141, which prohibit age 
discrimination in employment; Title VII of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964, Section 1981 of the Civil Rights Act 



14  ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012

of 1866, and Executive Order 11246, which prohibit 
discrimination based on race, color, national origin, 
religion, or sex; the Americans with Disabilities Act 
and Sections 503 and 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 
1973, which prohibit discrimination based on disabil-
ity; any other federal, state, or local laws prohibiting 
employment or wage discrimination; the Fair Labor 
Standards Act of 1938 and state laws that regulate 
wage and hour matters; the Family and Medical Leave 
Act of 1993; the Employee Retirement Income Security 
Act of 1974; any federal, state, or local laws providing 
workers’ compensation benefits, prohibiting retalia-
tory or wrongful discharge, otherwise restricting an 
employer’s right to terminate employees, or otherwise 
regulating employment; claims for breach of con-
tract, promissory estoppel, defamation, slander, or 
libel; claims for termination pay, severance, or other 
benefits; and any other federal, state, or local tort or 
contract claim. Employee expressly waives all rights 
that he might have under any law that is intended to 
protect him from waiving unknown claims.  

Employer hereby irrevocably and unconditionally 
releases, acquits and discharges Employee from any 
and all from any and all charges, complaints, claims, 
liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements, controver-
sies, damages, actions, causes of action, suits, rights, 
demands, costs, losses, debts and expenses (including 
attorneys’ fees and costs actually incurred), of any 
nature whatsoever, whether known or unknown, aris-
ing out of any act, omission, or event from the begin-
ning of time up to the execution of this Agreement.

5. REFERENCES AND NON-DISPARAGEMENT. If 
it is necessary for Employer to provide a reference 
to a prospective employer, Employee agrees that 
he will direct the prospective employer to contact 
____________. Additionally, Employee and the elected 
officials agree that they shall not disparage or make 
negative comments about each other; provided that 
this Section shall not apply to comments made to any 
other governmental entity or as required by law.

6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. The 
undersigned parties hereby represent and warrant the 
following to the other:

a. Employee represents and warrants that: he/
she is legally and mentally competent to sign this 
Agreement; he/she is the sole owner of any claims 
against the Employer; he/she has the requisite 
capacity and authority to make this Agreement, and 
no portion of any existing or potential claims has 

been sold, assigned or pledged to any third party; 
and he/she presently possesses the exclusive right 
to receive all of the consideration paid in exchange 
for this Agreement.

b. Employee represents and warrants that he/she has 
not and will not file any complaints, charges or law-
suits against Employer or any of its past, present and 
future elected officials, department heads, officers, 
employees, agents, representatives or attorneys with 
any governmental agency or any court, including 
without limitation, any claim or matter of any nature 
whatsoever related to or arising out of his employ-
ment with or separation of his/her employment, 
except Employee expressly reserves the right to file a 
claim for unemployment benefits. Employee further 
agrees to indemnify and hold Employer harmless 
from any and all loss, costs, damages or expenses, 
including reasonable attorney fees incurred by 
Employer, arising out of any claim concerning the 
separation of employment that may hereafter be 
made by the Employee or any other party.

c. Employer represents and warrants that it has not 
and will not file any complaints, charges or lawsuits 
against Employee with any governmental agency 
or any court, including without limitation, any 
claim or matter of any nature whatsoever relating 
to or arising out of Employee’s employment with 
Employer or the separation of his employment from 
Employer. Employer further agrees to indemnify 
and hold the Employee harmless from any and all 
loss, costs, damages or expenses, including reason-
able attorney fees incurred by Employee, arising 
out of any claim arising from the separation of 
his employment that may hereafter be made by 
Employer or any other party.

d. Each party is fully aware of the contents of this 
Agreement and of its legal effect and understands 
that it should obtain legal advice regarding this 
Agreement as they deem appropriate. The parties 
hereto and each of them, have carefully read this 
Agreement and know the contents thereof, and they 
signed the same freely and voluntarily.

e. This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement 
between the parties and supersedes any and all 
prior agreements or understandings between the 
parties pertaining to the subject matter herein. No 
waiver of a breach of any provision of this Agree-
ment shall be construed to be a waiver of any 
breach of any other provision of this Agreement or 



ICMA MODEL EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 2012 15

of any succeeding breach of the same provision. 
No delay in acting with regard to any breach of any 
provision of this Agreement shall be construed to 
be a waiver of such breach. If any provision in this 
Agreement is found to be unenforceable, all other 
provisions will remain fully enforceable.  

f. No promise or inducement has been made or 
offered, except as herein expressly set forth, and 
this Agreement is executed without reliance upon 
any statement or representation by any of the 
released parties or their representatives. 

g. The language of all parts of this Agreement shall, 
in all cases, be construed as a whole, according 
to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against 
either party.

h. This Agreement and any amendments hereto 
may be executed in multiple counterparts by the 
parties. Each counterpart shall be deemed an origi-
nal, but all counterparts together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument

7. JURISDICTION. This Agreement shall be gov-
erned by the laws of the State of _________, and the 
_________ County District Court shall have exclu-
sive jurisdiction of any disputes arising under this 
Agreement.  

8. BINDING EFFECT. This Agreement shall be bind-
ing upon and shall accrue to the benefit of the parties 
hereto, their respective personal representatives, suc-
cessors in interest and assigns.  

9. REVIEW & REVOCATION. The parties acknowl-
edge that Employee may revoke his/her acceptance 
and execution of this Agreement at any time within 
seven (7) days of the date of his/her execution of it. 
Any revocation shall be in writing and shall be effec-
tive upon timely receipt by the Employer’s Attorney.

If the revocation is submitted by mail, the revoca-
tion must be postmarked before the expiration of 
the seven (7)-day revocation period, and must be 
sent by overnight mail or other method so that it is 
received at the above address no later than the next 
business day immediately following the expira-
tion of the seven (7)-day period. Further, Employee 
represents that, before accepting and executing 
this Agreement, he/she was given a review period 
of twenty-one (21) days in which to consider it. 
Employee further represents that he/she: (a) took 
advantage of as much of this period as required 
to consider this Agreement before signing it; (b) 

carefully read the Agreement and the Release 
included herein; (c) fully understands it; and (d) 
is entering into it voluntarily. Employee represents 
that Employer encouraged him/her to discuss this 
Agreement with an attorney of choice before sign-
ing it. This Agreement shall not become effective or 
enforceable until the seven-day revocation period 
has expired without Employee having revoked 
acceptance of it.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed 
this Agreement as of the respective dates set forth 
below and each hereby acknowledge receipt of an 
executed copy of this Agreement.

On behalf of the Employer of 

_________________, _________:

Employer

Date

Attested by:

Employer’s Representative

Date

On behalf of Employee:

Date



@ICMA
facebook.com/ICMAorg
linkedin.com/company/icma
icma.org/kn

777 North Capitol Street, NE
Suite 500
Washington, DC 20002–4201
202.289.ICMA (4262)
icma.org

I N T E R N A T I O N A L  C I T Y / C O U N T Y  M A N A G E M E N T  A S S O C I A T I O N




